
   

 
 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
MEETING OF THE PERSONNEL BOARD 

*** NEW LOCATION *** 
1301 Shattuck Avenue  

Live Oak Community Center, Fireside Room 
Berkeley, CA  94704 

DATE:  July 10, 2023     TIME:  7:00 P.M. 
 

Secretary:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Human Resources Department 
2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704 
(510) 981-6800   E-mail: akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info  

 
 
THIS MEETING IS BEING HELD IN A WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE LOCATION. TO REQUEST A DISABILITY-RELATED 
ACCOMMODATION(S) TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING, INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, PLEASE CONTACT THE 
DISABILITY SERVICES SPECIALIST AT 981-6418 (V) OR 981-6347 (TDD) AT LEAST THREE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE THE MEETING 
DATE. PLEASE REFRAIN FROM WEARING SCENTED PRODUCTS TO THIS MEETING. To submit an e-mail comment during the 
meeting to be read aloud during public comment, email jelewis@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject Line in this format: 
“PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM ##.” Please observe a 150 word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply 
 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Roll Call 
 

III. Public Comment 
 

ACTION ITEMS: 
 
IV. Approval of Minutes of Meeting on June 5, 2023 

 
V. Recommendation to Amend Electrical Supervisor and Communications Supervisor Job Class 

Specifications 
  

VI. Recommendation to Amend Parking Services Manager Job Class Specification 
 

VII. Recommendation to Establish Lactation Counselor Job Class Specification and Salary Range 
 

VIII. Revisions to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 

 
INFORMATION ITEMS:   
 

IX. Director’s Report – Updates from HR Director – Discussion Only 
 

X. Copy of Berkeley Matters – Discussion Only 
 

XI. Adjournment 
 

If you are unable to attend a meeting please call 510-981-6812 
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through 
the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication 
to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to 
be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do 
not want your contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the 
relevant board, commission or committee for further information.  SB 343 Disclaimer:  Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding 
any item on this agenda will be made available for public inspection at the Human Resources Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley CA. 
 

mailto:akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:jelewis@cityofberkeley.info


   
 

 
 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
MEETING OF THE PERSONNEL BOARD 

*** NEW LOCATION *** 
1301 Shattuck Avenue  

Live Oak Community Center, Fireside Room 
Berkeley, CA  94704 

DATE:  June 5, 2023     TIME:  7:00 P.M. 
 

Secretary:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Human Resources Department 
2180 Milvia Street, First Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704 
(510) 981-6800   E-mail: akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info 

 
 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
 

I. Call to Order 7:03 P.M. 
 

II. Roll Call 
 
Members Present: Robert Dixon (Chair), Aviva Gilbert (Vice Chair), Darryl Bartlow, Mary Kay 

Lacey, Jenny Wenk 
 

Members Absent: Maya Karpinski, Nic O’Loughlin 
 
Staff Present: Aram Kouyoumdjian (Director of Human Resources); Monica Walker 

(Human Resources Manager); Jessica Lewis (Human Resources); 
Jennifer Louis (Chief of Police); Ron Nevels (Supervising Civil Engineer); 
Leticia Jauregui (PW Operations Manager)  

 
Public Attendance: None 
 

III. Public Comments 
  

Cordell Hindler: “For a future agenda, the personnel board should consider hosting a 
retreat to go over the goals for the remainder of 2023. Also, I am in fill support of the 
items on the agenda [sic]”. 
 
 

ACTION ITEMS: 
 

IV. Approval of Minutes of Meeting on May 1, 2023 
 
Action:  MSC: (Gilbert/Wenk) to approve the minutes of the meeting on May 1, 2023. 
 
Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 

Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 
 
 
V. Recommendation to Amend Assistant to the City Attorney Job Class Specification 

 

mailto:akouyoumdjian@cityofberkeley.info


   
Action:  MSC: (Wenk/Lacey) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Assistant to the City 
Attorney Job Class Specification 

 
Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 
VI. Recommendation to Amend Junior Public Works Engineer and Assistant Public Works 

Engineer Job Class Specifications 
 
Action:  MSC: (Gilbert/Wenk) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Junior Public Works 
Engineer and Assistant Public Works Engineer Job Class Specifications 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 
VII. Recommendation to Amend Drafting Technician and Senior Drafting Technician Job Class 

Specifications 
 

Action:  MSC: (Wenk/Bartlow) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Drafting Technician 
and Senior Drafting Technician Job Class Specifications 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 

VIII. Recommendation to Amend Solid Waste Worker Job Class Specification 
 

Action:  MSC: (Lacey/Wenk) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Solid Waste Worker 
Job Class Specification 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 
IX. Recommendation to Amend Public Safety Dispatcher I and Public Safety Dispatcher II Job 

Class Specifications 
 

Action:  MSC: (Dixon/Lacey) to approve the Recommendation to Amend Public Safety 
Dispatcher I and Public Safety Dispatcher II Job Class Specifications 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
 Noes:   None 
 Abstains:  None 
           Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 



   
X. Recommendation to Establish Deputy Police Chief Job Class Specification and Salary Range 

 
Action:  MSC: (Bartlow/Gilbert) to approve the Recommendation to Establish Deputy Police 
Chief Job Class Specification and Salary Range 
 

Vote: Ayes:   Bartlow, Dixon, Gilbert, Lacey, Wenk 
           Noes:   None 
           Abstains:  None 

Absent: Karpinski, O’Loughlin 
 
 
 

INFORMATION ITEMS:   
 

XI. Employer of Choice Initiative – Discussion Only  
 

XII. Director’s Report – Updates from HR Director – Discussion Only 
 

XIII. Copy of Berkeley Matters – Discussion Only 
 

XIV. Adjournment               8:08 PM 

 
 

 
 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  July 10, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Electrical Supervisor and Communications Supervisor Job 

Class Specifications 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department and Public Works Department seek to amend the 
Electrical Supervisor and Communications Supervisor job class specifications to clarify minimum 
qualifications. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The current job class specifications indicate that a typical way of gaining the knowledge and skills to 
qualify for Electrical Supervisor and Communications Supervisor is equivalent to graduation from high 
school and five years of increasingly responsible experience “as a City of Berkeley Electrician” or “City of 
Berkeley Communications Technician.” 

Although the current wording allows the City to select candidates with experience outside of the City of 
Berkeley, it would be clearer to rephrase the minimum qualifications as follows: “increasingly responsible 
experience equivalent to” a City of Berkeley Electrician or City of Berkeley Communications Technician. 

SALARY 
 
There is no salary impact. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Amend job class specification of Electrical 
Supervisor and Communications Supervisor as outlined. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Job Class Specification with Proposed Revisions – Electrical Supervisor 
2. Job Class Specification with Proposed Revisions – Communications Supervisor 

 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 



Internal 

 

Communications 
Supervisor 

 
Bargaining Unit: Unrepresented Classifications 

Class Code: 
9028 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: May 9, 2023 
Revision Date: July 10, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$55.77 - $62.78 Hourly 

$4,461.60 - $5,022.51 Biweekly 
$9,666.80 - $10,882.11 Monthly 

$116,001.60 - $130,585.31 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 
DEFINITION  
 
Supervisory position that oversees, plans, organizes and directs the work of Communications 
Technicians and others performing installation and maintenance of electronic communications 
and telephone systems; performs related work as assigned.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS  
 
This is the working supervisory level in electronic communications installation and maintenance 
work. Incumbents supervise, plan, organize, schedule, assign and direct the work of staff and 
provide technical assistance as necessary. 
 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 
The following list of duties describes the various types of work that may be performed and the 
level of technical complexity of the assignment(s), and is not intended to be an all-inclusive list.  

1. Supervises, plans, organizes, schedules and assigns the work of staff engaged in 
electronic communications installation, maintenance and repair work, including, but not 
limited to, radio transmitting, receiving and relay equipment, alarm, audio and video 
systems, telephone and data communications systems and related electronic systems 
and equipment;  

2. Exercises general supervision over employees as necessary. Train employees on the 
use of policies, procedures and performance standards; monitor work assignments and 
measure performance; 

3. Instructs and provides for the training of staff in work methods, use of a variety of 
specialized test instruments, tools and equipment and applicable safety precautions;  



Internal 

4. Inspects job sites to determine work required and measure the performance of 
Communications Technicians; 

5. Estimates personnel, material and equipment requirements for assigned jobs; orders 
materials and schedules jobs;  

6. Provides technical assistance to staff in resolving difficult problems encountered;  
7. Prepares and maintains a variety of reports and records, including timecards, worksheets, 

accident reports, FCC license maintenance requests, etc.;  
8. Orders and maintains an adequate inventory to accomplish assigned jobs;  
9. Meets with user departments to help them to address their needs; responds to questions 

and complaints;  
10. Ensures a timely preventative maintenance program is carried out on all existing systems; 

identifies equipment obsolescence, recommends replacement equipment when needed; 
researches system needs, designs systems as necessary, prepares technical 
specifications when needed for new or replacement equipment or systems;  

11. Maintains communications with vendors to resolve equipment problems; remains current 
on modifications and repair data and on information on technical advances; 

12. Reviews and inspects work upon completion to assure work meets all specifications and 
regulations that are applicable to the work; inspects quality of work and makes sure all 
work is completed to the satisfaction of user departments; 

13. Ensures that appropriate safety devices and equipment are being utilized;  
14. Conducts safety meetings; coordinates activities with other affected divisions; assist in 

the development of division budget; track and monitor labor and material expenditures;  
15. Represents the City at meetings of radio frequency coordinating organizations; 

participates in the radio frequency coordination process to protect valuable existing 
frequencies from interference, as well as to obtain required new frequencies to meet the 
needs of the City; communicates with neighbor governmental agencies when necessary 
to coordinate radio communication or telecommunication needs with other public safety 
service providers;  

16. Assist in the development of division budget; track and monitor labor and material 
expenditures;  

17.  Participates in meetings as required;  
18. Responds to emergency situations as necessary; 
19. Coordinates with Electrical Parts Technician for orders and maintains an adequate 

inventory to accomplish assigned jobs;  
20. Manages work orders and services requests; creates, closes, updates, reassigns as 

necessary;  
21. Participates in meetings as required; responds to emergency situations as necessary; 
22. Performs related duties, as assigned. 

 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 
Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics.  
 
Knowledge of:  

1. Principles and practices of design, maintenance, installation, repair and modification of 
electronic communications systems and equipment; 



Internal 

2. Methods, tools and equipment and instruments used in electronic communications 
systems maintenance and repair work;  

3. Techniques of lead direction, including planning, assigning and monitoring work and 
supervising work performance of journey level employee;  

4. Safe work methods and safety practices pertaining to the work;  
5. Operation and maintenance of a wide variety of equipment and hand and power tools 

used in the work;  
6. Applicable Federal Communication Commission codes and regulations;  
7. Computer applications related to the work; 
8. Principles and practices of effective employee supervision, including selection, training, 

work evaluation and participation in the City’s progressive discipline process;  
9. Shop mathematics, including algebra, geometry and trigonometry. 

Skill in:  

1. Supervising, planning, estimating, coordinating, and scheduling the work of staff;  
2. Preparing and maintaining a variety of accurate written records and reports pertaining to 

the work;  
3. Reading and interpreting plans, schematics and specifications and manuals;  
4. Operating and maintaining instruments, equipment and tools used in the field;  
5. Establishing and maintaining effective working relationships with those encountered in 

the course of the work;  
6. Explaining technical concepts regarding specialized communication equipment in 

understandable lay terms; and designing systems as needed;  
7. Identifying and implementing effective courses of action to complete assigned work;  
8. Coordinating assignments with other divisions, departments and agencies. 

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 
A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS:  
 
Equivalent to graduation from high school and five (5) years of increasingly responsible 
experience in the installation, repair and maintenance of electronic communications systems as 
equivalent to a City of Berkeley Communications Technician. Experience in the repair and 
maintenance of GE or Motorola mobile and portable two-way radio systems and data 
communications hardware is desirable.  
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS  
 
Must possess a valid California driver's license and have a satisfactory driving record. Must 
possess sufficient strength and stamina to lift and carry objects weighing up to 50 pounds. Must 
be willing to work off-hours, standby, and overtime in emergency situations. Must possess good 
color vision. Must possess a valid FCC General Radio-Telephone Operators license at time of 
appointment. 
 



Internal 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 
Established Date: May 9, 2023 
Revised: July 10, 2023 

 



Internal 

 

Electrical 
Supervisor 

 
Bargaining Unit: Unrepresented Classifications 

Class Code: 
9027 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: May 9, 2023 
Revision Date: July 10, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$55.77 - $62.78 Hourly 

$4,461.60 - $5,022.51 Biweekly 
$9,666.80 - $10,882.11 Monthly 

$116,001.60 - $130,585.31 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 
DEFINITION  
 
Supervisory position that oversees, plans, organizes and directs the work of several crews 
performing electrical installation, maintenance and repair work; performs related work as 
assigned.  
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS  
 
This is the working supervisory level in electrical installation, maintenance and repair work. 
Incumbents supervise, plan, organize, schedule, assign and direct the work of several crews and 
provide technical assistance as necessary. 
 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 
The following list of duties describes the various types of work that may be performed and the 
level of technical complexity of the assignment(s), and is not intended to be an all-inclusive list.  

1. Supervise, plans, organizes, schedules and assigns the work of several crews engaged 
in installation, maintenance and repair work on a wide variety of electrical and electronic 
equipment used in street lighting, traffic signal control, inside and field wiring, irrigation 
pumps and motors, HVAC, telephone systems and related electrical systems and 
equipment;  

2. Exercises general supervision over employees as necessary. Train employees on the 
use of policies, procedures and performance standards; monitor work assignments and 
measure performance; 



Internal 

3. Instructs and provides for the training of crew members in work methods, use of tools and 
equipment and relevant safety precautions and ensures that safety standards are being 
utilized;  

4. Inspects job sites as needed to determine work required and measure the performance of 
Electricians; 

5. Estimates personnel, material and equipment requirements for assigned jobs;  
6. Provides technical assistance to crews in resolving difficult problems encountered;  
7. Prepares and maintains a variety of reports and records, including timecards, worksheets, 

accident reports, maintenance requests, etc.;  
8. Coordinates with Electrical Parts Technician for orders and maintains an adequate 

inventory to accomplish assigned jobs;  
9. Manages work orders and services requests; creates, closes, updates, reassigns as 

necessary;  
10. Conducts safety meetings; coordinates activities with other affected divisions; assist in 

the development of division budget; track and monitor labor and material expenditures;  
11. Participates in meetings as required; responds to emergency situations as necessary; 
12. Responds to questions from the public including contractors for private projects; 
13. Performs related work as assigned. 

 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 
Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics.  
 
Knowledge of:  

1. Principles, methods, tools, materials and equipment used in the electrical trade;  
2. Techniques of lead direction, including planning, assigning and monitoring work and 

supervising work performance of journey level employees;  
3. Safe work methods and safety practices pertaining to the work;  
4. Operation and maintenance of a wide variety of equipment and hand and power tools 

used in the work;  
5. Relevant codes and regulations;  
6. Computer applications related to the work. 
7. Principles and practices of effective employee supervision, including selection, training, 

work evaluation and participation in the City’s progressive discipline process; 

Skill in: 

1. Supervising, planning, estimating, coordinating, and scheduling the work of several 
crews;  

2. Preparing and maintaining a variety of accurate written records and reports pertaining to 
the work;  

3. Reading and interpreting plans, schematics, specifications and manuals; 
4. Operating and maintaining equipment and tools used in the field;  
5. Establishing and maintaining effective working relationships with those encountered in 

the course of the work;  
6. Identifying and implementing effective courses of action to complete assigned work;  



Internal 

7. Coordinating crew assignments with other divisions, departments and agencies. 

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 
A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS:  
 
Equivalent to completion of high school and five (5) years increasingly responsible journey level 
experience as equivalent to a City of Berkeley Electrician.  
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS  
 
 

1. Must possess a valid class "B" California driver's license and have a satisfactory driving 
record;  

2. Must be willing to work out of doors in all weather conditions and to work with exposure to 
potentially hazardous substances, with proper protection;  

3. Must possess sufficient strength and stamina to lift and carry objects weighing up to 80 
pounds;  

4. Must be willing to work from aerial lifts and underground in confined spaces and to work 
standby, off hours, and overtime in emergency situations;  

5. Must possess good color vision. 

 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 
Established Date: May 9, 2023 
Revised: July 10, 2023 

 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  July 10, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Parking Services Manager Job Class Specification 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department and Public Works Department seek to amend the 
Parking Services Manager job class specification to accurately reflect current industry language and 
standards, as well as updated duties and responsibilities.   
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The Parking Services Manager organizes and administers the parking services programs throughout the 
City of Berkeley, including off-street and on-street parking management, budget, and parking fine policy 
development. Over the years, the duties and responsibilities of the job have evolved in conjunction with 
changes in the parking industry. These changes include handling first-level adjudication of parking 
citations, overseeing the residential parking permit program, being involved in the parking plans for new 
developments being built, event planning and parking for citywide events, and managing new technology 
involved with solar-powered and credit card-enabled machines, as well as electric vehicle charging 
stations and vendor contracts that are associated with those responsibilities.   

The proposed changes to the job class specification capture the evolution of these responsibilities and 
add the requirement to be a Certified Administrator of Public Parking (CAPP) by the International Parking 
Institute, which is an industry standard. 

SALARY 
 
There is no salary impact. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Amend job class specification of Parking 
Services Manager as outlined. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Organizational Chart – Public Works Transportation 
2. Job Class Specification with Proposed Revisions – Parking Services Manager 

 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager  



   

Attachment 1: Public Works Department 
 

 
 
 
 



Internal 

 

 

Parking 
Services 

Manager 
 

Bargaining Unit: Public Employees Union, 

Local One 

Class Code: 

1158 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: Oct 6, 2008 

Revision Date: Oct 6, 2008 July 10, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$55.17 - $66.59 Hourly 

$4,413.60 - $5,327.20 Biweekly 

$9,562.80 - $11,542.27 Monthly 

$114,753.60 - $138,507.20 Annually 

  

 

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION 
 
Under general direction, plans, organizes and administers the parking services programs in the 
Public Works Department, consisting of City off-street and on-street parking management, 
budget, parking fine policy development, metered parking revenue collection and maintenance,  
parking citation level onelevel one adjudication and citation payment plansand iIndigent citation 
payment plans, electric vehicle charging program,  liaison for parking policy programs and 
parking enforcement guidelines, special event parking coordination, traffic and parking  
management planning related to event venues of varying sizes, and management of major 
projects and acquisitions; performs related work as assigned. 
 
CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This classification is responsible for the administration and management activities and budget of 
the parking services programs in the Transportation division. This class develops and directs the 
implementation of policy, goals and objectives, and procedures; manages the operation of the 
City's off-street parking facilities, on-street parking meter collection processes and maintenance 
of equipment; fine policy development; and analysis and preparation of reports concerning 
parking operations, revenue, and occupancy. The incumbent represents the Public Works 
Department in meetings with stakeholders, the public and other governmental agencies, and 
makes recommendation for improvements for meeting present and future parking demands. This 
class is distinguished from the Transportation Manager, which has overall management 
responsibility for the Transportation Division of the Public Works Department, which includes 
Traffic Engineering, Transportation Planning, Parking Services, and alternative transportation 
programs. 



Internal 

 

 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be an 
all-inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from the 
position if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or closely 
related to another duty statement. 
 
 

1. Manage, direct, plan, develop and administer citywide parking operations for the on street 
and off-street parking programs. Daily operations may include programming, strategizing 
and setting program goals, objectives and priorities.  

2.  
1.3. Selects, directs, assigns, and evaluates professional and administrative support staff; 

trains staff in work procedures and administers discipline as required; provides 
professional and technical guidance to staff engaged in the management, technical, 
clerical and maintenance activities related to parking operations, maintenance, special 
event plans and enforcement within the City’s parking program. 
 

2.4. Supervises and performs work related to the preparation and implementation of the 
division’s program and budget Prepares and administers the unit's annual budget; 
 

3.5. Assigns and directs daily activities, including: controlling the accounting, auditing, 
collection and daily operational procedures relating to the parking facilities; 
 

4.6. Prepares written reports and statistical analyses, Council reports, Resolutions and 
Ordinances, and requests for proposals; 
 

5.7. Develops and administers all parking related contracts; regularly inspects facilities to 
ensure conformance with procedures, policies and contracts; 
 

6.8. Monitors utilization of off-street facilities and on-street meters, forecasts parking revenue 
for on and off-street parking, and recommends new rate structures for off-street facilities 
and on-street parking meters; 
 

9. Assists in assessing parking needs and makes recommendations for improvements to 
meet present and future parking needs; makes recommendations concerning parking 
policies, procedures and regulations and parking rates. 
 

10. Oversees Conduct adjudication related to parking citations and appeals. 
 

7.11. Administers residential parking permit program. 
 

12. Meets with members of the public, citizens' groups and other governmental agencies;  
 

13. Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course of 
work; communicate effectively with staff, elected officials, and community members; and 
 



Internal 

 

9.14. Performs other related duties as assigned. 
 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to the job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 
 
 
Knowledge of: 
 
 

1. Principles and practices of effective employee supervision including selection, team 
building, training, evaluation, and discipline; 
 

2. Business computer user applications related to the work such as Microsoft Word, Excel, 
Access, PowerPoint, maintenance work order systems, and parking information systems 
and revenue control systems; 
 

3. Principles and practices of budget development and administration; 
 

4. Factors affecting present and future parking needs and methods of data collection to 
analyze parking needs; and 
 

5. Methods of collecting, recording, and controlling parking fee revenue, Payment Card 
Industry (PCI) Compliance, and auditing principles and practices; and 
 

6. Principles and practices of contracts. 
 

7. Mobility devices including but not limited to motor/gas vehicles, electric vehicles, and 
scooters. 
 

5.8. Meter technology including solar-powered devices and credit card functionality. 
 

6.9. Laws and ordinances pertaining to regulation of municipal, State and ADA  parking. 
 
 

Skill in and ability to: 
 
 

1. Develop and implement programmatic solutions to address customer parking needs and 
to achieve revenue goals; 
 

2. Maintain cooperative working relationships with citizens, contractors, stakeholders and 
City staff; 
  

3. Plan, organize, assign, direct, review and evaluate the work of assigned staff, and 
develop and implement goals and objectives; 
 

4. Analyze, interpret, explain and apply technical policies, procedures, codes, and statutes; 



Internal 

 

 
5. Exercise sound independent judgment within established guidelines; 

 
6. Develop and write sound policies and procedures and training staff in their use; 

 
7. Prepare clear, concise, and complete reports, correspondence and other written 

materials, and making clear oral presentations; and 
 

8. Prepare, administer and monitor budgets. 
 

9. Read and interpret construction plans to evaluate and make recommendations related to 
parking impacts. 
 

8.10. Adjudicate citations related to parking. 
 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS: 
Equivalent to graduation from a four-year college with major courses in business administration, 
public administration, or a closely related field, and four (4) years of experience with management 
and supervisory responsibility for revenue collection functions or business facility management 
and development. Progressively responsible related experience may be substituted for the 
college course work on a year-for-year basis.  
 
OTHER REQUIREMENTS: 
Certification as an Administrator of Public Parking (CAPP) by the International Parking Institute. 
Must be able to travel to various locations within and outside the City of Berkeley to fulfill the job 
responsibilities.  When driving on City business, the incumbent is required to maintain a valid 
California Class C or higher driver's license as well as a satisfactory driving record. 
 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 

Established: 1/98 
Revised: 10/07 
Revised: 07/10/2023 

 



   
   

Page 1 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  July 10, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Establish Lactation Counselor Job Class Specification and Salary 

Range 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley Human Resources Department and Health, Housing, and Community Services 
(HHCS) Department were granted approval at the May 1, 2023 Personnel Board Meeting to establish the 
job class specification and salary range of Lactation Counselor. HHCS staff has been provided additional 
data since the May 1 meeting and wishes to adjust the salary range. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Based on additional data received since the last Personnel Board Meeting, HHCS wishes to amend the 
hourly range of the Lactation Counselor to $41.1351 - $50.0000 per hour, reflecting the mean of the 
surrounding agencies for similar positions occupied by Internationally Board-Certified Lactation 
Consultants (IBCLC). 
 
SALARY 
 
The proposed range of $41.1351 - $50.0000 per hour is within market for neighboring agencies. A 
compensation survey conducted on City and County of San Francisco, and counties of Alameda, Contra 
Costa, Marin, and Solano, revealed an average hourly range of $41.1351 - $50.0000. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The City of Berkeley’s Health, Housing, and Community Services (HHCS) Department intends to staff the 
position as a limited-term, not-to-exceed-two-year position, at 10 hours per week (0.25 FTE), which will be 
funded for fiscal years 2022 to 2025 by a grant administered by the California Department of Public 
Health titled United States Department of Agriculture Breastfeeding Peer Counseling Program (BPC).  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Our recommendation is to establish the Lactation Counselor job class specification, in order to utilize 
grant funding to employ an Internationally Board-Certified Lactation Counselor who will oversee the City’s 
Breastfeeding Peer Counselor Program and provide additional services to the City of Berkeley 
community. 



   
   

Creation of Lactation Consultant Job Class Specification and Salary Page 2 
 

 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Establish job class specification and salary 
range of Lactation Counselor as outlined.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Proposed Job Class Specification – Lactation Counselor 
 
cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 

 

 

 

  



   
   

Creation of Lactation Consultant Job Class Specification and Salary Page 3 
 

 

 

Lactation Counselor 
 

Bargaining Unit: Unrepresented Classification 

Class Code: 
XXXX 

CITY OF BERKELEY 
Established Date: July XX, 2023 

SALARY RANGE 
$41.1351 - $50.0000 Hourly 

$3,290.8080 - $4,000.0000 Biweekly 
 $7,130.0840 - $8,666.6667 Monthly  

 $85,561.0080 - $104,000.00 Annually  

  

DESCRIPTION: 

DEFINITION 

Under the direction of the Health Nutrition Program Coordinator (Women, Infant & Children [WIC] 
Director) or designee, serves as the designated breastfeeding expert for the City, provides supervision 
to assigned professional, technical, and office support staff, handles more complex lactation problems; 
provides on-site and home-visit breastfeeding support, as needed; participates in community 
breastfeeding activities; mentors and provides in-service education on lactation for Breastfeeding Peer 
Counselors and WIC staff; and assists in overall lactation program planning. 

CLASS CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This single position journey-level class is responsible for the operation and management of the 
Breastfeeding Peer Counseling Program. The incumbent provides oversight and direction for Peer 
Counselors (PCs). The Lactation Counselor has frequent interaction with WIC participants in need of 
lactation support. The work requires a high level of technical knowledge, excellent oral and written 
communication skills, and editing skills and the exercise of independent judgment. 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

The following list of duties is intended only to describe the various types of work that may be 
performed and the level of technical complexity of the assignment(s) and is not intended to be an all-
inclusive list of duties. The omission of a specific duty statement does not exclude it from the position 
if the work is consistent with the concept of the classification, or is similar or closely related to another 
duty statement. 

1. Provides human milk feeding support to Women, Infants, & Children (WIC) participants, including 
lactation consultation to WIC participants referred to by peer counselors, WIC staff, and local 
providers of parents experiencing complex maternal and infant lactation problems beyond their 
scope of practice. 

2. Counsels high-risk people needing breast pumps or other equipment for complex human milk 
feeding situations. 



   
   

Creation of Lactation Consultant Job Class Specification and Salary Page 4 
 

3. Makes telephone contacts, home visits, WIC clinic visits, and/or hospital visits with participants to 
support human milk feeding and identify clients needing additional assistance to optimize their 
breastfeeding success. 

4. Keeps accurate records of all contacts made with WIC clients. 
5. Maintains confidentiality of client interactions and records and oversees peer counselors’ 

adherence to WIC confidentiality requirements. 
6. Mentors and coordinates peer counselors through shadowing opportunities, observations, client 

record reviews and ongoing guidance. 
7. Provides in-services, trainings and education on various lactation topics and lactation 

management, including the initial and ongoing lactation training for PCs and WIC staff. 
8. Manages referral system for referring WIC clients to PCs or to the IBCLC for lactation problems 

outside of the PC’s scope of work. 
9. Teaches breastfeeding classes and support groups for pregnant and lactating people, or mentors 

peer counselors leading group meetings. 
10. Develops an ongoing PC recognition program, which affirms and supports PCs in an effort to 

improve PC retention. 
11. Conducts and coordinates exit surveys with the participants after they leave the Breastfeeding 

Peer Counseling Program, in an effort to maintain a continuous quality improvement plan. 
12. Serves as a liaison between WIC and the community and conducts outreach with community 

organizations to promote WIC lactation services. 
13. Establishes community partnerships to increase awareness and improve communication to 

promote a breast/chest-feeding-friendly culture in their community. 
14. Ensures the availability of services outside of normal work hours. 
15. Coordinates breast/chest-feeding promotion activities in WIC and in the community, including the 

coordination of all World Breastfeeding Week activities. 
16. Participates in Peer Support groups, Community Breastfeeding Coalitions, WIC Regional 

Breastfeeding Committee meetings, and the California Breastfeeding Summit. 
17. Provides nutrition education and nutrition intervention for participants as it relates to lactation 

counseling. 
18. Communicates with health professionals regarding high risk lactation cases, and refers mothers 

with medical or nutrition concerns beyond the IBCLC Scope of Practice. 
19. Competently fulfills, through self-designation or assignment, the following WIC designated 

coordinator roles for which they qualify as dictated under WIC program policies (Breastfeeding 
Peer Counselor Coordinator, Breastfeeding Coordinator, Staff Training Coordinator, Outreach 
Coordinator, Other Training Coordinator Roles, as needed). 

20. Maintains an audit follow-up system to ensure that corrections for audit recommendations are 
timely and adequately implemented. 

21. Conducts compliance and performance audits. 
22. Responds to questions from City departments, Council, commissions and various committees and 

groups; attends various meetings as assigned. 
23. Maintains knowledge of current principles and practices and monitors developments in auditing 

and audit standards including but not limited to the Breastfeeding Peer Counselor / IBCLC. 
24. Develops and implements continuing professional development and continuous improvement 

plans for assigned staff; and 
25. Performs related duties as assigned. 

KNOWLEDGE AND ABILITIES: 

Note: The level and scope of the knowledge and skills listed below are related to the job duties as 
defined under Class Characteristics. 
 

Knowledge of:  



   
   

Creation of Lactation Consultant Job Class Specification and Salary Page 5 
 

1. Principles, policies, procedures, and reporting requirements of lactation programs. 
2. Lactation physiology, anatomy, and counseling techniques. 
3. Principles and practices of adult education philosophies and methods, learning theories as applied 

to nutrition and health instructional materials, group and individual education, techniques, infant 
development related to nutrition, lactation education techniques and customer service. 

4. Laws and regulations related to state and local agency lactation policies and competencies. 
5. WIC Program and community nutrition with emphasis on maternal, infant and child needs. 
6. Health promotion and disease prevention. 
7. Word processing applications, spreadsheets and internet applications. 
8. Interviewing and communication skills. 

Ability to: 

1. Plan, organize, assign, direct, review, and evaluate the work of professional, technical, and office 
support staff and manage employees, provide feedback on performance, evaluate progress, 
determine work priorities, assign work and ensure proper completion of assignments. 

2. Provide information on human milk feeding in a positive, effective manner. 
3. Demonstrate creative problem-solving skills and exercise sound judgment to quickly evaluate 

situations and render prompt decisions. 
4. Refer community resources and programs to people in need of assistance.  
5. Ability to communicate information and ideas clearly and effectively in a professional manner, both 

orally and in writing. 
6. Maintain strict confidentiality of participant, employee and agency records  
7. Utilize reporting software, and review reports, contracts, and records for accuracy, clarity, 

completeness, and compliance with legal and procedural guidelines. 
8. Exercise sound independent judgment in recommending more efficient and effective methods, 

systems, and reporting formats. 
9. Recommend and implement policies and procedures. 
10. Demonstrate ethnic and cultural sensitivity while working with diverse populations. 
11. Establish and maintain effective working relations with those contacted in the course of work; 

communicate effectively with staff, elected officials, and community members, both orally, in public 
meetings, and in writing. 

12. Interpret and apply applicable laws and regulations 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

A TYPICAL WAY OF GAINING THE KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS OUTLINED ABOVE IS: 

Equivalent to graduation from high school and two (2) years of paraprofessional experience in a public 
health or related setting, supplemented by formal or approved in-service training, which has provided 
additional expertise and demonstrated proficiency in an area of specialization such as training, 
examination, screening, counseling, or outreach. Bachelor's degree in nutrition, social services, or 
health related field is desirable. Previous experience working with the Women, Infants, & Children 
(WIC) program and knowledge of WIC policies and procedures is desirable.  
  
OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
  
Possession of an International Board-Certified Lactation Consultant (IBCLC) certification administered 
by the International Board of Lactation Consultant Examiners (IBLCE) at time of appointment is 
required, and the certification must be maintained as a condition of continued employment. Must be 
willing to work evenings or weekends. Must be able to travel to various locations within and outside 



   
   

Creation of Lactation Consultant Job Class Specification and Salary Page 6 
 

the City of Berkeley to fulfill the job responsibilities. When driving on City business, the incumbent is 
required to maintain a valid California driver's license as well as a satisfactory driving record. 

CLASSIFICATION HISTORY: 

  
Classification Code XXXX 
Classification Established July XX, 2023 

FLSA Status Exempt [Career Full-Time Appointment] 
Non-Exempt [Hourly Intermittent Temporary Designation] 

Admin Leave / Overtime Admin Leave [Exempt / Career Full-Time Appointment] 
Overtime [Non-Exempt / Hourly Intermittent Temporary Designation] 

Representation Unit Unrepresented 
Probationary Period One Year 
Workers’ Comp Code 8810 

 

 



   
   

 

 
Human Resources 
 
Date:  July 10, 2023 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Board 
 
From:  Aram Kouyoumdjian, Director of Human Resources 
 
Subject:  Recommendation to Amend Unrepresented Employee Manual 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
The City of Berkeley City Manager’s Office and Human Resources Department seek to amend the 
Unrepresented Employee Manual to effectuate various changes to merit increase dates, alignment of 
terms outlined in existing collective bargaining agreements, and inclusion of a classification that qualifies 
for differentials. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The Human Resources Department is simultaneously presenting proposed changes to the Personnel 
Board and City Council, due to time constraints. Staff recommends changes to the Unrepresented 
Employee Manual that (1) effectuate merit raises for employees on salary ranges on their anniversary 
date in their current classification; (2) align vacation accrual, longevity pay rates, vacation sell-back 
policies, and a certification differential for the Fire Chief, the Police Chief, and their deputies with the 
corresponding provisions of the Memoranda of Understanding with the Berkeley Fire Fighters Association 
and the Berkeley Police Association; and (3) include Accounting Office Specialists III among the 
classifications that qualify for the City Manager Department Differential. 
 
SALARY 
 
The fiscal impacts of these revisions will be borne by the affected departments. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Personnel Board is requested to approve the following: Proposed changes to the Unrepresented 
Employee Manual. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Unrepresented Employee Manual with Proposed Revisions 
 

cc: Monica Walker, Human Resources Manager 



Internal 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Berkeley 
 

Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 
 
 

July 17, 2021July 11, 2023 



Internal 

 

Page intentionally blank 



Internal 

 



City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

i 

Internal 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Table of Contents ................................................................................................. i 

UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE MANUAL ......................................................... 1 

ARTICLE 1 - SALARY, OTHER PAY AND OVERTIME ....................................... 2 

1.1 Intent .................................................................................................. 2 

1.2 Hours and Days of Work ..................................................................... 2 

1.3 Workweek ........................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Regular Workweek ............................................................................. 2 

1.5 Payment of Salaries ........................................................................... 2 

1.6 Salary Ranges without Salary Steps ................................................... 2 

1.7 Automobile Allowances ...................................................................... 2 

1.8 Mandatory Professional Fees and Licenses ....................................... 3 

1.9 Bilingual Pay ....................................................................................... 3 

1.10 Overtime for FLSA Non-Exempt Employees ...................................... 3 

1.11 Emergency Overtime .......................................................................... 4 

1.12 Shift Differential .................................................................................. 4 

1.13 Fifty-Six (56) Hour per Week Work Schedule Leave Conversion Factor 
. .......................................................................................................... 4 

1.14 One-Time Allocation ........................................................................... 5 

1.15 Payroll Specialty Pay .......................................................................... 5 

1.15.1 Salary Resolution ............................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE 2 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD ............................................................. 6 

2.1 Length of Probationary Period ............................................................ 6 

2.2 Objectives of Probationary Period ...................................................... 6 

2.3 Rejection of Probationers ................................................................... 6 

2.4 Rejection during Probationary Promotion ............................................ 6 

ARTICLE 3 - VACATION ...................................................................................... 7 

3.1 Vacation Leave................................................................................... 7 

3.2 Vacation Approval .............................................................................. 7 

3.3 Vacation Accrual ................................................................................ 7 

3.4 Vacation Scheduling ........................................................................... 8 



ii 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

3.5 Maximum Vacation Accumulation ....................................................... 8 

3.6 Vacation Leave before Retirement ..................................................... 9 

3.7 Vacation Leave in Lieu of Sick Leave ................................................. 9 

3.8 Payout upon Termination or Extended Unpaid Leave......................... 9 

3.9 Holidays Occurring during Vacation ................................................... 9 

ARTICLE 4 - SICK LEAVE ................................................................................. 10 

4.1 Eligibility ........................................................................................... 10 

4.2 Sick Leave Not a Privilege ................................................................ 10 

4.3 Family Sick Leave ............................................................................ 10 

4.4 Notice to Department Head .............................................................. 10 

4.5 Medical Verification .......................................................................... 10 

4.6 Injury Incurred in Outside Employment ............................................. 11 

4.7 Bonus for Unused Sick Leave .......................................................... 11 

4.8 Accumulation of Sick Leave .............................................................. 11 

4.9 Payout for Excessive Sick Leave for Employees Hired on or Before 
June 30, 2013 .................................................................................. 11 

4.10 Effect of Leave without Pay on Sick Leave Accrual .......................... 12 

4.11 Accrued Sick Leave Canceled Upon Termination ............................. 12 

4.12 City of Berkeley Supplemental Retirement Plan [Termination 401(a)] 
. ........................................................................................................ 14 

4.13 Accrued Sick Leave Applied to CalPERS Retirement Credit ............ 14 

4.14 Sick Leave Benefits and State Disability Insurance .......................... 14 

4.15 Workers’ Compensation and Salary Continuation ................................ 14 

4.16 Sick Leave Accrual for Department Heads and Deputy City Managers 
. ........................................................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS .................................................................................... 16 

5.1 Holidays............................................................................................ 16 

5.2 Floating Holidays .............................................................................. 16 

5.3 Eligibility ........................................................................................... 17 

5.4 Part-Time Employee Eligibility .......................................................... 17 

5.5 No Work on the Holiday .................................................................... 17 

5.6 Work on the Holiday ......................................................................... 17 

ARTICLE 6 - OTHER PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE ......................................... 18 

6.1 Family Bereavement Leave .............................................................. 18 



iii 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

6.2 Jury Duty Leave ............................................................................... 18 

6.3 Continuing Education Leave ............................................................. 19 

6.4 Administrative Leave Program .......................................................... 19 

6.5 Temporary Employees – Earned Leave ........................................... 19 

6.6 Abolishment of Temporary Employees – Earned Leave ................... 20 

6.7 Temporary Employees Sick Leave ................................................... 20 

6.8 Sick Leave Accrual ........................................................................... 20 

6.9 Sick Leave Use................................................................................. 20 

ARTICLE 7 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY ...................................... 21 

7.1 Power to Grant Leave ....................................................................... 21 

7.2 Authorized Leave Without Pay ......................................................... 21 

7.3 Unauthorized Leave of Absence ....................................................... 21 

7.4 Parental Leave ................................................................................. 22 

7.5 Family Care Leave ........................................................................... 22 

7.6 Military Leave ................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE 8 - EMPLOYEE FRINGE BENEFITS .................................................. 23 

8.1 Group Medical-Dental Insurance Benefits ........................................ 23 

8.2 Life Insurance ................................................................................... 23 

8.3 Hourly Rated Employees in Lieu of Benefits ..................................... 23 

8.4 Public Employees Retirement System .............................................. 23 

8.5 Supplementary Retirement and Income Plans ................................. 30 

8.6 Deferred Compensation.................................................................... 31 

8.7 PARS ............................................................................................... 31 

8.8 Public Safety Uniform Allowance ...................................................... 31 

8.9 Supplemental Retirement Plan and Trust Agreement ....................... 31 

ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL .............................................................. 32 

9.1 Employment At-Will .......................................................................... 32 

9.2 No Right to Appeal Discharge .......................................................... 32 

9.3 Benefits ............................................................................................ 32 

9.4 Standards of Conduct ....................................................................... 32 

9.5 Transfer or Appointment of Career Employee to an At-Will Position 32 

ARTICLE 10 - LAYOFF POLICY AND PROCEDURE ........................................ 34 



iv 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

10.1 Statement of Intent ........................................................................... 34 

10.2 Announcement of Layoff ................................................................... 34 

10.3 Vacancy Freeze ............................................................................... 34 

10.4 Seniority Service Date ...................................................................... 34 

10.5 Establishment of Seniority Lists ........................................................ 34 

10.6 Order of Layoff ................................................................................. 35 

10.7 Notification ........................................................................................ 35 

10.8 Employee Retreat Rights .................................................................. 35 

10.9 Flexible Placement Program ............................................................ 36 

10.10 Failure to Accept Offer under Layoff ................................................. 36 

10.11 Re-Employment List ......................................................................... 37 

10.12 Appeal Procedures ........................................................................... 38 

10.13 Audit ................................................................................................. 38 

ARTICLE 11 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION ............................................................. 39 

11.1 Policy ................................................................................................ 39 

11.2 Final Decision Maker for Disciplinary Action ..................................... 39 

11.3 Disciplinary Actions .......................................................................... 39 

11.4 Written Reprimands for Fire Safety Employees ................................ 39 

11.5 Written Reprimands for Non- Safety Employees .............................. 40 

ARTICLE 12 - COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND HEARINGS .............................. 41 

12.1 Policy ................................................................................................ 41 

12.2 Final Decision Maker for Purposes of this Article ............................. 41 

12.3 Complaints ....................................................................................... 41 

12.4 Right of Appeal ................................................................................. 42 

12.5 Method of Appeal ............................................................................. 42 

12.6 Investigations and Hearings ............................................................. 42 

12.7 Hearing Procedures .......................................................................... 42 

12.8 Findings and Recommendations ...................................................... 43 

APPENDIX .......................................................................................................... 44 

13.1 Administrative Leave ........................................................................ 44 

13.2 Automobile Allowance ...................................................................... 44 

13.3 Bilingual Premium Pay ..................................................................... 44 

13.4 Cash-In-Lieu Payments .................................................................... 45 



v 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

13.5 Dependent Care ............................................................................... 45 

13.6 Life Insurance ................................................................................... 46 

13.7 Medical/Dental Insurance for Employees/Dependents ..................... 46 

13.8 Retiree Medical Plan ........................................................................ 47 

13.9 Amendment of Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plans I and II, 
effective June 28, 1998, Restated and Amended effective March 22, 
2011 ................................................................................................. 47 

13.10 Retiree Medical for Unrepresented Benefitted Employees ............... 47 

13.11 Reimbursement Plan ........................................................................ 51 

13.12 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Retiree Medical Plan..................... 56 

13.13 Retiree Medical for Police Chief Classification .................................. 57 

13.14 Partially Subsidized YMCA Membership .......................................... 57 

13.15 Part-Time Employees Eligible for Full Benefits ................................. 57 

13.16 Probationary Periods for Unrepresented Classifications ................... 58 

13.17 Public Safety Uniform Allowance ...................................................... 58 

13.18 Regular “At-Will” Classifications........................................................ 58 

13.19 City Manager Department Differential............................................... 59 

13.20 Shift Differential ................................................................................ 59 

13.21 SRIP II Disability Insurance .............................................................. 59 

13.22 Vacation Schedules .......................................................................... 59 

13.23 Special Pay for Camps Personnel .................................................... 60 

13.24 Hazard Premium Pay for Clerical Mental Health Personnel.............. 60 

13.25 Longevity Pay ................................................................................... 60 

13.26 Longevity Pay for Confidential and Executive Management Employees 
. ........................................................................................................ 60 

13.27 Automobile Allowance for Police Chief ............................................. 61 

13.28 Video Display Terminal Screening/Glasses ...................................... 61 

13.29 Emergency Medical Technician ........................................................ 61 

13.30 Shoe Allowance ................................................................................ 61 

13.31 Training Differential .......................................................................... 61 

13.32 Summary of May 2017 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee 
Manual ............................................................................................. 62 

13.33 Summary of October 2017 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee 
Manual ............................................................................................. 63 

13.34 Summary of July 2018 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee 
Manual ............................................................................................. 63 

13.35 Summary of July 2020 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee 



vi 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Manual ............................................................................................. 63 



City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE MANUAL 

This document establishes the rules governing benefits and working conditions, which 
are in effect for Unrepresented employees which have been approved by the City Council 
of the City of Berkeley. 

This Unrepresented Employment Manual provides the personnel policies and procedures 
that affect the working conditions and benefits of unrepresented employees in the City of 
Berkeley. For purpose of categorization, all classifications are designated by a 
representation unit. Unrepresented employees are in classifications included in 
representation units Z-1; Z-2; Z-3; Z-9; X; and X-1, as noted in the City’s 
Classification/Salary Resolution. The working conditions and benefits for represented 
employees are contained in their respective memoranda agreements. Rules, which 
describe general policies of the City’s personnel system, are found in the City of Berkeley 
Personnel Rules and Regulations. 



City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

2 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 1 - SALARY, OTHER PAY AND OVERTIME 
 
1.1 Intent 

This Section (Salary, Other Pay and Overtime) is intended only to define the 
normal hours of work and the time for which salary shall be paid, and to provide 
the basis for the calculation of overtime pay. Nothing in these rules shall be 
construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per week, or of days of work 
per week. The City's pay records, practices and procedures shall govern the 
payment of all wages. 

 
1.2 Hours and Days of Work 

Hours and days of work shall be governed by rules established by the City. 
 
1.3 Workweek 

The workweek shall consist of seven days beginning at 12:01 a.m. on Sunday to 
and including 12:00 midnight the following Saturday. 

 
1.4 Regular Workweek 

The regular workweek shall consist of forty hours of work within the workweek. 
 
1.5 Payment of Salaries 

Payment of salaries shall be bi-weekly and shall cover a pay period of two (2) 
consecutive workweeks. Each payment shall be made not later than Friday 
following the ending of each payroll period and shall include payment for all 
earnings reported during the previous payroll period. 

 
1.6 Salary Ranges without Salary Steps 

In those classes of positions for which a salary range is established without a 
designation of salary steps, the City Manager is authorized to fix the salary rate at 
any point within the established salary range. Subsequent increases, if approved 
by the City Manager, shall be effectuated at the start of the pay period closest to 
the employee’s anniversary date (defined as the date of hire into the employee’s 
current classification). 

 
1.7 Automobile Allowances 

In addition to the salaries provided in the salary resolution, employees may be 
reimbursed for the use of automobiles owned by employees of the City of Berkeley 
and used on City business, as authorized by the City. Current automobile 
allowances are appended to this Manual, as shown in the Appendix, Section 13.27 
(Automobile Allowance). 



3 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

1.8 Mandatory Professional Fees and Licenses 

The City will assume full payment of the mandatory professional fees and licenses 
required by employees in the following unrepresented classes in order to maintain 
their continued employment with the City of Berkeley: 

 
Director of Public Works City Attorney 
Deputy Director of Public Works (Registered) The Attorney Class Series 
Rent Stabilization Board Staff Attorney Class Series Audit Manager 
Classes requiring a license to practice medicine  

1.9 Bilingual Pay 

Employees appointed to positions requiring bilingual abilities, including Braille and 
sign language shall receive additional compensation as established by the City 
Council. Only those employees who possess second language competency, can 
demonstrate second language competency, and are serving in a position requiring 
competency in that particular language are entitled to receive the bilingual 
premium pay. The current level of approved compensation and procedures for 
qualifying and receiving bilingual pay are appended to these Rules, as shown in 
Appendix, Section 13.3 (Bilingual Premium Pay). 

 
1.10 Overtime for FLSA Non-Exempt Employees 

All employees who are covered by the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor 
Standards Act are designated as "FLSA non-exempt employees." Unless 
otherwise required by the Fair Labor Standards Act, all FLSA non-exempt 
employees, and employees in the classification of Battalion Chief, who are 
required to work in excess of their regular workweek shall be paid overtime 
compensation at the rate of one and one-half times the straight time rate based 
upon the regular monthly salaries or shall be given compensatory time off in lieu 
of payment at the rate of one and one-half hours off with pay for each overtime 
hour worked. The following provisions regarding overtime apply only to FLSA non- 
exempt employees and do not apply to FLSA exempt employees. FLSA non- 
exempt employees, temporarily promoted to FLSA exempt classifications, will be 
ineligible for overtime compensation for the duration of the appointment. 

 
1.10.1 Manner of Compensation: An employee may be compensated for 

overtime by either compensatory time off or by payment; the method of 
overtime compensation shall be agreed upon by the employee and the 
supervisor at the time of obtaining approval to work overtime. 

 
1.10.2 Pre-Authorization: No employee may work overtime without the 

express prior approval of his or her department head. 
 

1.10.3 Accrual Limit on Compensatory Time: Compensatory time shall not 
accumulate in excess of sixty (60) overtime hours worked which is the 
equivalent of ninety (90) hours of compensatory time. Overtime 
accumulation in excess of sixty (60) hours shall be paid as 
compensation. 



4 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

1.10.4 Use of Compensatory Time: All use of compensatory time off must be 
approved, in advance, by the employee's department head, on forms 
provided by the City. 

 
1.10.5 Effect of Termination on Compensatory Time: An employee is 

entitled to compensation for any accumulated overtime upon resignation 
or termination. 

 
1.11 Emergency Overtime 

All FLSA non-exempt employees who are called to duty from their living quarters 
outside of their regular work hours and work days shall be paid emergency 
overtime compensation for the actual time worked provided, however, that each 
employee shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours pay for emergency overtime 
unless such emergency overtime work is performed prior to the beginning of his or 
her work regularly scheduled work period without a break in service in which case, 
compensation shall be paid only for the actual time worked. 

 
1.12 Shift Differential 

All unrepresented FLSA non-exempt employees (except for Police Aides) who 
regularly work a shift of eight hours or more, which includes more than four hours 
between the hours of 5:00 p.m. and 12:00 a.m., or between 12:00 a.m. and 7:00 
a.m., are paid a shift differential in addition to their regular base rate of pay in an 
amount established by the City Council. The current shift differential rate paid to 
unrepresented employees is in the Appendix to this Manual. 

 
1.13 Fifty-Six (56) Hour per Week Work Schedule Leave Conversion Factor 

The conversion factor for Fire Management employees accruing and using 
vacation leave, sick leave or sick leave bonus bank of hours is as shown below. 
The intent of the parties is to have the dollar value of the vacation leave, sick leave 
or sick leave bonus bank of hours accrued be the same whether an employee is 
assigned to a fifty-six (56) hour per week schedule or a forty (40) hour per week 
schedule. 

 
1.13.1 Leave Accrual for 56 Hour per Week Schedule: Vacation leave, sick 

leave or sick leave bonus bank of hours accrued on a fifty-six (56) hour per 
week scheduled is converted to a forty (40) hour per week schedule by 
multiplying number of hours of vacation leave or sick leave accrued by the 
conversion factor of 0.7143. 

 
1.13.2 Leave Accrual for 40 Hour per Week Schedule: Vacation leave, sick leave or 

sick leave bonus bank of hours accrued on a forty (40) hour per week scheduled 
is converted to a fifty-six (56) hour per week schedule by multiplying number of 
hours of vacation leave accrued by the conversion factor of 1.4. 



5 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

1.14 One-Time Allocation 

Employees in Units Z-1, Z-2, Z-3, Z-6, and Z-9 who are in paid status as of July 
29, 2018 will receive a one-time allocation of $2,000.00 (prorated for part-time 
employees) on August 17, 2018, minus applicable local, state and/or federal 
taxes. 

 
1.15 Payroll Specialty Pay 

City shall provide (“payroll clerks”) identified by the City in Unrepresented 
Employees a one-time lump sum payment of $500.00 effective the first full pay 
period after Council adoption of this successor agreement and a second $500.00 
one-time lump sum payment the first full pay period in January 2022 for only 
those employees in the Accounting Office Specialist III classification. Such 
payments are subject to applicable payroll taxes and will not be considered 
pensionable salary. At the time of each payment, employee must be still 
employed by the City and must still be in the Accounting Office Specialist III 
classification. Employees working less than full-time (40 hours per week, 2,080 
hours per year) shall receive a pro rata share of the one-time lump sum payment 
based on the number of hours they are assigned to work. For example, an 
employee working 30 hours per week, shall receive 75% of the one-time lump 
sum payment ($375 effective the first full pay period after Union ratification and 
Council adoption of this successor agreement and $375.00 the first full pay 
period in January 2022). 

 
 

1.15.1 Salary Resolution 

Effective the first full pay period in July 2021 after Council adoption on its regular 
agenda, the salary ranges for those classifications covered by this Manual shall 
receive a salary increase of four percent (4.0%). 

 
Effective the first full pay period in July 2022, the salary ranges for those 
classifications covered by this Manual as listed in Exhibit A shall be increased by 
three percent (3.0%) 

 
Effective the first full pay period in July 2023, the salary ranges for those 
classifications covered by this Manual as listed in Exhibit A shall be increased by 
one percent (1%). 

 
Effective the first full pay period after City Council adoption on its regular agenda, 
a onetime non-pensionable lump sum payment of $1,000.00 for each career 
bargaining unit employee shall be conferred. Eligible employees must be current 
City employees in paid status for the full pay period this lump sum is conferred 
and shall not apply to unit members who are in unpaid status. Such payment 
shall be subject to required payroll tax deductions. The parties agree that this 
lump sum provision does not create or bind the City to any precedent or past 
practice. 



6 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 2 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD 
 

2.1 Length of Probationary Period 

All original and promotional appointments to positions in the career service shall 
be tentative and subject to a probationary period. The length of the probationary 
period shall be determined for each class by the City Council. However, the length 
of the probationary period shall not be less than six months of actual service (1040 
hours) or more than two years of actual service (4160 hours). A six (6) month 
probationary period must be completed in no more than one (1) year. A one (1) 
year probationary period (2080 hours) must be completed in no more than two (2) 
years. A two (2) year probationary period must be completed in no more than three 
(3) years. A current schedule of probationary periods for unrepresented classes is 
appended to this Manual, as shown in Appendix, Section 13.16 (Probationary 
Periods for Unrepresented Classifications). 

 
2.2 Objectives of Probationary Period 

The probationary period shall be regarded as a part of the selection process and 
shall be used to closely observe and evaluate the employee's work, to secure the 
most effective adjustment of a new employee to his or her position, and to eliminate 
any probationary employee whose performance does not meet the required 
standards of work. 

 
2.3 Rejection of Probationers 

During the probationary period, an employee may be rejected from employment at 
any time by the City Manager without cause and without the right of appeal. 

 
2.4 Rejection during Probationary Promotion 

An employee rejected during the probationary period following a promotional 
appointment shall be reinstated to the classification from which he or she was 
promoted unless charges are filed and he or she is discharged in the manner 
provided in the Personnel Ordinance and these rules. 



7 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 3 - VACATION 
 

3.1 Vacation Leave 

All benefitted employees shall be entitled to annual vacation leave subject to the 
provisions in this chapter. 

 
3.2 Vacation Approval 

All vacations must be approved, in advance, by the employee's department head, 
on forms provided by the City. 

 
3.3 Vacation Accrual 

 
3.3.1 Full Time Benefitted Employees: During the first two (2) calendar 

years of employment, all full time benefitted employees shall be entitled 
to take only such annual vacation leave as the employees earn based 
on their continuous length of service measured from the date of hire. 
After two (2) years of service, employees may request, and upon 
approval, take up to a maximum of two (2) weeks of their annual 
vacation, in advance of actual earning. Approval of requests for advance 
vacation shall be solely at the discretion of management. 

 
Vacation accrues according to schedules established by the City 
Council and can vary for different groups of employees. The current 
vacation schedules for full time unrepresented employees are in the 
Appendix to this Manual. 

 
3.3.2 Part Time and Temporary Employees: Benefitted part-time 

employees working a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week accrue 
vacation benefits on a pro rata basis. Employees who work less than 
twenty (20) hours per week and temporary employees, unless otherwise 
authorized, do not accrue leave benefits 

 
3.3.3 Accrual of Vacation Credits: Vacation leave credits are only accrued 

for each straight time hour for which the employee is paid. 
 

3.3.4 Effect of Extended Leave on Vacation Accrual: An employee who 
has returned from extended military leave or an extended authorized 
leave of absence without pay of six (6) months or more or who has been 
re-employed or reinstated shall be entitled, during the calendar year in 
which the employee returns to the City service, to earn vacation 
according to a schedule based upon the total years in the career service 
with the City and upon the total number of months of actual service with 
the City during the said calendar year. For succeeding calendar years, 
the employee's vacation leave shall accrue as provided in this Manual. 



8 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

3.3.5 New Hire Vacation Accrual: For new hires, the City Manager may 
authorize vacation accrual at a higher rate, up to the maximum accrual 
rate, depending upon the paid leave accrual of the potential employee 
at his or her present employer. The new hire must be able to document 
his or her current paid leave accrual, which has been earned for general 
use, such as vacation. The waiting period to advance to the next accrual 
rate would be the actual number of years between the respective accrual 
levels. 

3.3.6 Vacation Accrual for Unit Z1 Police Chief and Deputy Police Chief: 
The vacation accrual rate for the Police Chief and Deputy Police Chief 
classifications will provide the same benefits as the vacation accrual for 
represented sworn police employees under the Berkeley Police 
Association (Units E & F) Memorandum of Understanding. 

3.3.7 Vacation Accrual for Unit Z1 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief: The 
vacation accrual rate for the Fire Chief and Deputy Police Chief 
classifications will provide the same benefits as the vacation accrual for 
represented sworn fire employees under the Berkeley Fire Fighters 
Association (Units B) Memorandum of Understanding. 

3.3.53.3.8 The classifications identified within Sections 3.3.6 and 3.3.7 shall be 
allowed to participate in the annual vacation leave sell back to the extent 
such rights are afforded to the bargaining units they supervise in their 
respective memoranda of understanding. 

 
3.4 Vacation Scheduling 

The times during the calendar year at which an employee shall take his or her 
vacation shall be determined by the department head with due regard for the 
wishes of the employee and particular regard for the needs of the service. If the 
requirements of the service are such that a department head cannot permit the 
employee to take an annual vacation leave or any part of such leave within a 
particular calendar year, the employee may accrue vacation according to Section 
3.3 (Vacation Accrual) of this Manual. 

 
3.5 Maximum Vacation Accumulation 

Employees may defer vacation earned up to a maximum cumulative total of eight 
(8) weeks. An employee who has attained maximum accumulation may be 
required to take all excess earned vacation at the option of the City. Not later than 
October 1 of each year, the City will advise employees who have attained a 
maximum accumulation of vacation whether such excess earned vacation must be 
scheduled as time off prior to March 31. Such time off shall be scheduled in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 3.2 (Vacation Approval). 

 
The City shall require all employees to reduce their accrued vacation balances to 
no more than 320 hours, as of the last pay period in February of each year. To 
effectuate the requirement that employees not accrue more than 320 hours 
vacation leave, no later than November 15 of each year the City will provide 
Department Heads with a report identifying all employees who have accrued two 
hundred and eighty (280) hours of vacation leave and appear in danger of 
exceeding the 320 hour limit. 

 



9 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Employees who have accrued 280 hours of vacation leave, as of that date, will be 
advised by their supervisor that they must take vacation leave to reduce their 
vacation leave accrual by February of the following year. 

 
Supervisors should be flexible in granting employee vacation requests to those 
employees above, or approaching the 320 hours limit, and further, that with regard 
to employees who are in danger of exceeding the 320 hour limit, no vacation 
request by such an employee shall be unreasonably denied. If an employee who 
is in danger of exceeding the 320 hour limit fails by December 31 to schedule a 
vacation to be taken before the last pay period in February, the City has the 



10 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

authority to direct the employee to go on vacation leave to reduce the employee’s 
accrued vacation. 

 
If, due to operational necessity, a department head denies an employee vacation 
leave and does not provide the employee with an alternate vacation date, and as 
a result causes the employee to exceeds the 320 vacation leave limit, said 
employee shall nonetheless be entitled to use that vacation leave in the next 
calendar year to the extent necessary to reduce their accrued vacation to not more 
than 320 hours. Under no circumstances will the City liquidate any vacation leave 
balances for any employee during employment. 

 
3.6 Vacation Leave before Retirement 

Accumulated vacation shall not be used immediately prior to retirement, which has 
the effect of extending the date of retirement, but shall be paid out in full upon 
retirement. 

 
3.7 Vacation Leave in Lieu of Sick Leave 

Except for absences that qualify for benefits under Administrative Regulation 2.4 
(Family Care Leave) Vacation leave shall not be used in lieu of accrued sick leave 
for absences due to illness. If accrued sick leave is exhausted, vacation leave may 
be used for absences due to illness, only if such leave is approved by the 
employee's department head. 

 
3.8 Payout upon Termination or Extended Unpaid Leave 

Upon termination, including death, extended military leave or other extended leave 
without pay, an employee or his or her estate shall be paid for all accrued unused 
vacation leave at the employee's base rate at the time of his or her termination, 
and such employee or his or her estate shall reimburse the City for any vacation 
leave taken before it had accrued, in accordance with provisions established by 
the City Manager. 

 
3.9 Holidays Occurring during Vacation 

If an observed City holiday occurs during an employee's scheduled vacation, no 
deduction from accrued vacation will be made for the holiday period. 



11 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 4 - SICK LEAVE 
 

4.1 Eligibility 

All full-time benefitted employees are eligible for one (1) sick leave day (eight [8] 
hours) per month of service, except that the Police Chief hired before September 
11, 2012 is eligible for two (2) sick leave days for each month of service during the 
twenty-first (21) year of employment and thereafter. Employees in the 
classifications of Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief shall be credited with two (2) 
sick leave days for each month of service during the seventeenth (17th) year of 
employment and thereafter. Part time benefitted employees are eligible to accrue 
sick leave on a pro rata basis. 

 
4.2 Sick Leave Not a Privilege 

Sick leave shall not be considered a privilege, which an employee may use at his 
or her discretion, but shall be allowed only in the case of his or her sickness or 
disability or in the case of illness within the defined family of the employee. 

 
4.3 Family Sick Leave 

As of January 1, 1999, employees may use up to fifteen (15) working days of 
accrued sick leave in a calendar year to care for a family member, limited to one 
of the following: a legal dependent, parent, spouse, son, daughter or domestic 
partner. 

 
4.4 Notice to Department Head 

In order to qualify for sick leave benefits, the employee shall notify his or her 
department head or designee prior to or within two (2) hours after the time set for 
the beginning of the employee's daily duties, or as otherwise required by the 
department head. Leave for non-emergency medical appointments shall be 
requested in advance of the workday. 

 
4.5 Medical Verification 

The City of Berkeley retains the right to request a verification from a licensed 
medical practitioner under appropriate circumstances which include (1) showing 
that an employee's illness or disability has started or ended, before the City will 
allow an employee to take a leave or to return from leave, (2) showing regular 
updates during a medical leave of absence regarding the employee's medical 
status and the date the employee expects to return to work, (3) where reasonable 
cause exists to believe that the employee is not medically fit to perform the 
essential functions of the job or that the employee cannot perform the job without 
endangering the health and safety of the employee or others, and (4) where 
reasonable cause exists to believe that the employee is abusing sick leave or 
family sick leave. Sick leave pay may be withheld if a satisfactory verification is 
not received. 



12 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

4.6 Injury Incurred in Outside Employment 

No sick leave shall be allowed for time off for an injury incurred while working for 
another employer, provided that the injury is covered by California's workers' 
compensation law or by provisions of the other employer granting payment for time 
off because of the injury. In the event the injury is not covered either by the 
workers' compensation law or by the other employer's provisions, sick leave will 
be granted in accordance with this chapter only if the outside employment had 
been authorized by the City before the injury occurred 

 
4.7 Bonus for Unused Sick Leave 

For every six (6) months of perfect attendance, the employee will receive eight (8) 
hours of bonus time. "Perfect attendance" means the employee has not received 
sick leave or salary continuation benefits and has not taken or been placed on 
leave without pay. Benefitted part time employees will receive sick leave bonus 
time on a pro rata basis. Sick leave bonus can be used for any leave purpose 
authorized by this Manual. 

 
4.8 Accumulation of Sick Leave 

Employees may accumulate sick leave up to a maximum of two hundred (200) 
days (1600 hours) except for the classifications named below. 

 
The Police Chief and Fire Chief may accumulate sick leave in excess of the 1600- 
hour limit by 100 hours per year. 

 
4.9 Payout for Excessive Sick Leave for Employees Hired on or Before June 30, 

2013 

All employees, except employees in the classification of Deputy Fire Chief hired 
on or before June 30, 2013 in the career service who regularly work one-half time 
or more who have attained the two hundred (200) day maximum sick leave 
accumulation shall be entitled to receive payment for one-third (1/3) of the first 
twelve (12) days of sick leave days (or if earning sick leave at the rate of two (2) 
working days each month of service, one-third (1/3) of the first twenty-four (24) 
days of sick leave days), for which sick leave days they become eligible, they do 
not use and they would otherwise forfeit because of the two hundred (200) day 
maximum limitation. Determination of eligibility for such payment shall be made on 
an annual calendar year basis, and payment for such sick leave for any calendar 
year shall be made not later than the first full pay period in January. Such payment 
shall be at the employee's salary rate in effect on the preceding December 31, and 
shall be made only in units of whole days and will not be made for any fraction of a 
day. 

 
4.9.1 Deputy Fire Chief: For employees in the classification of Deputy Fire 

Chief, the following provisions shall apply. In each year following that 
1200 hour base year, the employee may, on a form provided by the City, 
elect to receive pay for excess sick leave or may elect to increase his or 
her sick leave accumulated base by the 96 hours and take any additional 



13 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

excess sick leave in pay at the following prescribed rate: employees who 
choose to increase their sick leave accumulated base by the 96 hours 
will receive 50% pay off rate in March; employees who choose to receive 
pay out for excess sick leave over the base, and do not exercise the 
option of increasing their accumulated sick leave base by 96 hours in 
any particular year, will be paid for excess sick leave at the 38% pay off 
rate in March. 

 
Forms, provided by the City along with projected excess sick leave 
balances, shall be distributed to affected employees by February of each 
year and shall be returned to the City by February 15th. If an employee 
uses part of an established “sick leave maximum accumulation level”, 
the employee may replenish the used portion at the applicable rate. 

 
Determination of eligibility for such payment shall be made on an annual 
basis, and payment for such sick leave for any calendar year shall be 
made during the month of March each year. Such payment shall be 
made at the employee’s regular monthly salary rate in effect on the last 
day of the first pay period to end in March. An employee shall be eligible 
for this provision whether or not the employee is on the payroll as of the 
last day of the first pay period to begin and end in March. 

 
4.9.2 Police Chief and Fire Chief Hired on or before June 30, 2013: For 

the Police Chief and Fire Chief hired on or before June 30, 2013, the 
maximum sick leave accrual allowed shall be adjusted at the rate of 100 
additional hours per year above the 1600-hour limit. The employee may 
elect to receive pay for the excess sick leave or may elect to increase 
the base by 100 hours, in each subsequent year. Payment for excess 
sick leave is prescribed at 1/3 of the excess leave balance. 

 
4.10 Effect of Leave without Pay on Sick Leave Accrual 

Sick leave will not accrue during any period of absence without pay. Sick leave 
credits are accrued on the basis of actual straight time hours worked or paid, based 
on a forty-hour workweek. 

 
4.11 Accrued Sick Leave Canceled Upon Termination 

Except as otherwise provided under the CalPERS conversion of sick leave 
retirement credit benefit (California Government Code Section 20965) and the 
other exceptions set forth below, all accrued sick leave shall be canceled upon 
termination of an employee. Such leave shall be credited back to the employee if 
the employee returns to City employment within two (2) years of termination except 
as otherwise provided by the City Council, or within three (3) years of termination 
if re-employed under the City's Layoff Policy provided in this Manual. 

 
4.11.1 CalPERS Miscellaneous Members, Chief of Police Hired on or 

before  June  30,  2013  Sick  Leave  Payout:   For  CalPERS 



14 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Miscellaneous members and Chief of Police hired on or before June 30, 
2013 who voluntarily separate from service with a vested pension and 
at least twenty (20) years of benefitted City of Berkeley service or to 
employees retiring on permanent disability arising out of and incurred in 
the course and scope of their employment with the City shall be entitled 
to liquidate a portion of their accrued but unused sick leave as follows: 
Upon termination, employees with between twenty (20) years and 
twenty-eight (28) years of benefitted City of Berkeley service shall be 
entitled to receive payment in an amount equal to 38% of their accrued 
sick leave days up to a maximum of two hundred (200) unused sick 
leave days. 

 
All employees hired on or after July 1, 2013 shall not be eligible for 
payment of any unused sick leave days. 

 
Employees hired on or before June 30, 2013 who voluntarily separate 
from service with a vested pension and at least twenty-eight (28) years 
of benefitted City of Berkeley service or employees retiring on 
permanent disability arising out of and incurred in the course and scope 
of their employment with the City, with at least twenty-eight years of 
benefitted City of Berkeley service, shall be entitled to receive payment 
in an amount equal to 50% of their accrued sick leave days up to a 
maximum of two hundred (200) unused sick leave days. Employees 
hired on or after July 1, 2013 shall not be eligible for payment of any 
unused sick leave days. 

 
4.11.2 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Hired on or before June 30, 2014 

Sick Leave Payout: For employees hired on or before June 30, 2014 
in the classification of Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief who retire or 
voluntarily terminate with twenty (20) years of service or who retire on 
permanent disability arising out of and incurred in the course and scope 
of their employment with the City, shall be entitled to receive payment at 
retirement or termination of unused sick leave days, based on the 
following schedule: 

 
Number of Days % of Payment 
0-75 Days 38% 
75-99 Days 41% 
100-124 Days 44% 
125-149 Days 47% 
150 Days and over 50% 

 
Employees in classifications identified in this Section 4.11.2 (Fire Chief 
and Deputy Fire Chief Hired on or before June 30, 2014 Sick Leave 
Payout) hired on or after July 1, 2014 shall not be eligible for payment 
of any unused sick leave days. 



15 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

4.12 City of Berkeley Supplemental Retirement Plan [Termination 401(a)] 

Employees who retire on a vested pension shall be eligible to participate in the City 
of Berkeley Supplemental Retirement Plan. The Supplemental Retirement Plan 
provides for negotiated required roll-forwards of accrued but unused leave, and 
also permits the City to do a “tax pick-up” of employee contributions under Section 
414(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code. A tax pick-up works through an 
irrevocable payroll deduction authorization, on an individual by individual elective 
basis, to contribute accrued but unused sick leave, vacation leave, compensatory 
time, floating holiday and bonus sick leave into an Internal Revenue Code 401(a) 
defined contribution plan. The Supplemental Retirement Plan Document shall 
govern administration of the Plan. 

 
4.13 Accrued Sick Leave Applied to CalPERS Retirement Credit 

The conversion of unused sick leave to retirement credit benefit under Government 
Code Section 20965 offered by CalPERS as an optional benefit to contracting 
agencies shall be made available to employees who retire with a vested pension. 

 
4.14 Sick Leave Benefits and State Disability Insurance 

Employees may use their accrued sick leave benefits during the normal seven day 
period before the eligible employees are paid benefits from State Disability 
Insurance. Following the seven day period, an employee will continue to receive 
accrued sick pay until exhausted and then, upon approval by the department head, 
accrued vacation or compensatory pay, less the disability benefits actually 
received. 

 
4.15 Workers’ Compensation and Salary Continuation 

Workers' compensation payments shall commence in accordance with State law, 
on the fourth day following an industrial injury, unless the employee is hospitalized 
in which case payment commences on the first day of injury. For the purpose of 
this Section (Workers’ Compensation and Salary Continuation), "hospitalized" 
means confinement. 

 
For all career and regular at-will employees who are receiving or shall receive 
workers' compensation benefits for an industrial injury, the City will pay retroactive 
compensation benefits to the eligible employee for the normal three day waiting 
period before the employee is paid workers' compensation benefits for temporary 
disability pursuant to California law governing the industrial injury or illness. 

 
Payments under the workers' compensation law for temporary disability or a 
recurrence thereof arising out of and in the course of employment shall be paid for 
a period not to exceed 365 days at a maximum payment of the employee's pre- 
disability pay, but shall not exclude any salary adjustments to which the employee 
is entitled. Thereafter, the employee will continue to receive only the temporary 
disability payments provided under State law and the City shall cease to pay the 
difference. 



16 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

4.15.1 Salary Continuation Benefit 
 

1. New Accepted Claim with Overlapping Previously Accepted Injury - Where 
an Employee sustains a subsequent industrial injury as part of a new 
accepted workers' compensation claim that includes a previously accepted 
body part in the same five (5) year period, Employee shall be entitled to a 
period of time not to exceed 183 days of Salary Continuation Benefits. 

2. New Accepted Claim with No Overlapping Previously Accepted Injury - 
Where an Employee sustains another industrial injury resulting in a new 
accepted workers' compensation claim within the same five (5) year period 
that does not include a previously accepted body part, the Employee's new 
accepted claim shall be entitled to a period of time not to exceed 365 days 
of the Salary Continuation Benefit. 

3. New Accepted Claim for Same Previously Accepted Injury after Five (5) 
Years - Where an Employee sustains an industrial injury to a previously 
claimed body part after five (5) years from the initial Date of Injury, the 
Employee shall be entitled to a new period of time not to exceed 365 days 
of the Salary Continuation Benefit. In effect, after five (5) years from the initial 
Date of Injury, the benefit resets with respect to a previously claimed body 
part. 

4. Workers' Compensation Medical Appointments and Salary Continuation - 
For the purposes of the Salary Continuation Benefit, effective January 1, 
2019, the City shall calculate absences from work to attend medical 
appointments for the treatment of an accepted industrial injury in one (1) hour 
increments for the purposes of running against the maximum 365 days of 
Salary Continuation. 

 

4.16 Sick Leave Accrual for Department Heads and Deputy City Managers 

At the time of appointment of new hires in regular at-will department head 
classifications and Deputy City Managers, the City Manager may authorize credit 
for accrual of sick leave based on sick leave accrual with a prior employer in an 
amount that does not exceed four weeks of sick leave credit. 



17 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS 
 

5.1 Holidays 

The City observes the following holidays and provides all full time regular, at-will 
and career employees. Contingent upon agreement by all Employee Bargaining 
Units, the parties agree that the Lincoln Holiday shall be eliminated and that Cesar 
Chavez Day – observed on March 31, or on the Monday or Friday closest to March 
31 if it falls on a Saturday or Sunday would be added instead. 

 
Holiday Day Observed 
New Year's Day January 1 
Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday Third Monday in January 
Lincoln's Birthday February 12 
Washington's Birthday Third Monday in February 
Malcolm X's Birthday Monday or Friday nearest May 19 
Memorial Day Last Monday in May 
Juneteenth June 19 
Independence Day July 4 
Labor Day First Monday in September 
Indigenous People's Day Second Monday in October 
Veterans' Day November 11 
Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November 
The Day After Thanksgiving Fourth Friday in November 
Christmas December 25 

 
5.2 Floating Holidays 

Full time, regular at-will, and career employees who have worked for the City six 
(6) months or more shall be granted three (3) floating holidays each calendar year. 
Employees may take floating holidays in one (1) hour increments. Employees who 
terminate employment within the first six (6) months of initial employment shall not 
be eligible for payout of any accrued but unused floating holiday. 

 
In the first calendar year of employment, employees shall be granted prorated 
floating holidays as follows: 

 
Date of Hire Number of Floating Holidays 
Hired January 1 - April 30 3 days 
Hired May 1 - August 31 2 days 
Hired September 1- December 31 1 day 

 
All use of floating holidays must be approved, in advance, by the employee's 
department head, on forms approved by the City. The days on which the employee 
shall take his or her floating holiday(s) shall be determined by the department head 
with due regard for the wishes of the employee and particular regard for the needs 
of the service. If the requirements of the service are such that a department head 



18 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

cannot permit the employee to take the floating holiday(s) within a particular 
calendar year, the employee shall add the unused floating holiday(s) to the 
employee's accrued vacation according to Section 3.5 (Maximum Vacation 
Accumulation). 

 
5.3 Eligibility 

In order to be eligible for holiday pay, an employee must be on paid leave status 
on his or her regularly scheduled workdays before the holiday. 

 
5.4 Part-Time Employee Eligibility 

Benefitted part time employees are eligible for holiday benefits on a pro rata basis. 
 
5.5 No Work on the Holiday 

Employees in the career service who are not scheduled to work on the day 
observed as a holiday will be granted an alternative scheduled holiday. The 
alternative holiday must be scheduled, by the department head, during the same 
workweek. 

 
5.6 Work on the Holiday 

FLSA non-exempt benefitted employees who work on a scheduled holiday shall 
be paid at one and one-half times their normal base rate for all hours worked or 
shall be granted the equivalent amount of compensatory time off. In either event, 
the holiday pay shall be in addition to the employees' regular salary. 



19 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 6 - OTHER PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 

6.1 Family Bereavement Leave 

Any benefitted employee who experiences a death in the immediate family is 
granted death leave of up to three (3) working days for the purpose of attending 
the funeral or memorial service in the State of California, or up to five (5) working 
days for the purpose of attending the funeral or memorial service outside the State 
of California. Employees in the classification of Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief 
shall be granted one week (five (5) consecutive calendar days) for a death in the 
immediate family whether in state or out of state for the purpose of attending the 
funeral or memorial service. 

 
For all employees except those employees in the classification of Fire Chief and 
Deputy Fire Chief, "immediate family" is limited to wife, husband, mother, father, 
sister, brother, child, grandmother, grandfather, aunt, uncle, mother-in-law, father- 
in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandchildren, 
dependent or domestic partner. For employees in the classification of Fire Chief 
and Deputy Fire Chief, "immediate family" is limited to wife, husband, domestic 
partner mother, father, sister, brother, child, grandmother, grandfather, aunt, uncle 
mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in- 
law, grandchildren or dependent residing within the household. 

 
Bereavement leave will be paid at the employee's normal base rate of pay for the 
actual time lost and is allowed solely for the purpose of attending funeral or 
memorial services. The department head may, within his or her discretion, grant 
the employee additional time off provided that all accrued vacation and/or sick 
leave shall be used prior to taking a leave of absence without pay for this purpose. 

 
In special cases, with the approval of the department head, the City Manager may 
grant death leave within his or her discretion to allow an employee to attend a 
funeral or memorial services because of the death of persons not included within 
the definition of immediate family. 

 
6.2 Jury Duty Leave 

Any benefitted employee who is called or required to serve as a trial juror, upon 
notification and appropriate verification submitted to his or her department head, 
shall be entitled to be absent with pay from his or her duties with the City during 
the period of such service and while necessarily being present in court as a result 
of such call. An employee is required to be present at work when not serving as a 
trial juror or as a member of a jury selection panel. An employee will notify his or 
her supervisor of any requirements (on-call status) made by the court that may 
affect the employee’s ability to simultaneously fulfill his or her jury duty service and 
employment obligations. The employee will keep any payment received for jury 
service including mileage reimbursement. 



20 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

6.3 Continuing Education Leave 

The City will grant a continuing education leave of absence with pay up to forty 
hours per year to benefitted employees who are required by their employment or 
continuing employment with the City of Berkeley to pursue course work in order to: 

 
(a) renew a license issued by the State of California; or 

 
(b) obtain a license issued by the State of California provided that employees 

verify to the City that the course work for the initial license was not offered 
as a part of their basic curriculum. 

 
Upon prior approval of the department head, FLSA non-exempt employees who 
take required course work during non-scheduled work hours in order to obtain or 
renew a job-required license shall be allowed time off from work on an hour-for- 
hour basis without loss of compensation or other benefits. 

 
6.4 Administrative Leave Program 

The City Manager provides for paid administrative leave to eligible employees as 
set forth in the Appendix to this Manual. Administrative leave is not charged 
against other accrued leave balances. 

 
6.5 Temporary Employees – Earned Leave 

A temporary employee who works one thousand forty (1040) hours or more in a 
calendar year and is in active employment during December of such year, shall be 
credited with forty (40) hours of paid time off to be used by such employee in the 
subsequent calendar year for either paid vacation or paid sick leave. The following 
conditions shall apply to the use of this earned leave as paid time off: 

 
a. To qualify for earned leave as vacation, the employee must apply, in writing, 

to the employee's supervisor at least thirty calendar days in advance of the 
desired time off. The granting or denial of the requested time off shall be in 
writing and shall be controlled by program considerations as established by 
the City. 

 
b. To qualify for earned as sick leave, the employee must notify the employee's 

supervisor of an inability to report to work by reason of illness or injury in 
advance of the scheduled work. 

 
c. An employee who has any unused earned leave credit shall receive 

payment for such time upon termination of temporary employment. All 
credited earned leave not utilized by employees at the end of the calendar 
year in which the employees are eligible to take such leave will be paid at 
the end of such year as wages and this earned leave shall not be 
accumulated from year to year. 



21 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

6.6 Abolishment of Temporary Employees – Earned Leave 

Effective July 1, 2015, Section 6.5 (Temporary Employees – Earned Leave) is 
abolished in its entirety and replaced with the following Section 6.7 (Temporary 
Employees Sick Leave). 

 
6.7 Temporary Employees Sick Leave 

Effective January 1, 2015, Temporary Employees who have been employed for at 
least 90 days on July 1, 2015 are eligible to accrue and use sick leave based on 
hours worked after July 1, 2015 as provided in Section 6.8 (Sick Leave Accrual) 
below. 

 
6.8 Sick Leave Accrual 

Effective July 1, 2015, once a temporary employee works for 30 days within a 
calendar year, the employee shall be eligible to accrue one (1) hour of sick leave 
for every 30 hours worked thereafter, to a maximum accumulation of 48 hours. 
Once an employee accrues 48 hours sick leave, the employee shall not accrue 
any additional sick leave hours until his or her sick leave balance is below the 
maximum of 48 hours. Under no circumstances will an employee be allowed to 
accrue more than 48 hours sick leave. 

 
6.9 Sick Leave Use 

Temporary Employees shall be eligible to use sick leave beginning on the 90th day 
of work. Sick leave shall be used in a minimum of two (2) hours increments, and 
limited to a maximum of 24 hours use each calendar year. Unused accrued sick 
leave hours shall carry over to the following calendar year. The following 
conditions shall apply to the use of this sick leave as paid time off: 

 
a. Sick Leave may be used for the following purposes: Diagnosis, care, or 

treatment, of an existing health condition or, preventive care for, an 
employee or an employee’s family member; for an employee who is a victim 
of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. To qualify for earned as 
sick leave and if the need for sick leave is foreseeable, the employee must 
notify the employee's supervisor of an inability to report to work in advance 
of the scheduled work. If the need for sick leave is unforeseeable, the 
employee shall provide notice to the immediate supervisor of the need for 
the leave as soon as practicable. 

 
b. All accrued and unused sick leave shall be cancelled upon 

separation/termination of employment. Such previously accrued and 
unused sick leave shall be credited back to the employee if the employee 
returns to City employment within one (1) year from the date of separation. 



22 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 7 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY 
 

7.1 Power to Grant Leave 

The City Manager shall have the power within his or her sole discretion to grant 
leaves of absence, with and without pay. 

 
7.2 Authorized Leave Without Pay 

Upon request of the employee, a department head may grant or deny a leave of 
absence to an employee within his or her department without pay for a period not 
to exceed thirty working days. No leave without pay shall be granted for more than 
thirty working days except upon written request of the employee and written 
approval of the City Manager. 

 
7.2.1 Required Exhaustion of Accrued Leave: In the event of an authorized 

absence due to illness, the employee must use all accrued sick, 
compensatory and vacation leave prior to receiving authorization for 
leave without pay. In the event of personal leaves not related to 
sickness, the employee must use all accrued compensatory and 
vacation leave prior to receiving authorization for leave without pay. 
However, employees in the classifications of Legislative Assistant and 
Assistant to the Mayor are not required to use all accrued compensatory 
and vacation leave prior to receiving authorization for leave without pay 
for the employee’s respective appointing Councilmember or the Mayor. 
This subsection does not apply to parental leave or to the exhaustion of 
sick leave by employees in the classification of Deputy Fire Chief as 
referenced in Section 7.2.2 (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Use of Sick 
Leave), below. 

 
7.2.2 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Use of Sick Leave: In the event of 

illness or injury of an employee in the classification of Fire Chief and 
Deputy Fire Chief requiring the use of sick leave, the employee has the 
option to notify the City in writing that he/she wishes to freeze the use of 
sick leave after thirty (30) days, prior to receiving authorization for leave 
without pay, in order to utilize the International Association of Fire 
Fighters sponsored Long Term Disability benefit. 

 
7.2.3 Grounds for Discharge: Failure on the part of an employee to report 

to work promptly at the expiration of the authorized leave without pay 
will result in discipline up to and including termination. 

 
7.3 Unauthorized Leave of Absence 

All paid and unpaid leaves of absence must be approved in accordance with the 
applicable sections of this Manual. Any absence on the part of the employee who 
has failed to obtain such approval or failure of an employee to report for duty 
without appropriate authorization as required by each department will result in the 
employee being placed on unauthorized leave of absence without pay. 



23 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

7.3.1 Grounds for Discharge: Unauthorized leave of absence without pay 
shall be cause for disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 
7.4 Parental Leave 

Any employee with one or more years of benefitted employment with the City of 
Berkeley shall be entitled to up to one year of parental leave upon the birth of a 
child or the adoption of a child who is five years or younger as provided in 
Administrative Regulation 2.4 (Family Care Leave). 

 
7.5 Family Care Leave 

The City will fully comply with the requirements of the state and federal law 
regarding pregnancy disability leave and medical/family illness/child care leave 
where their provisions are more generous than those provided elsewhere in this 
Manual or Administrative Regulation 2.4 (Family Care Leave). Leaves under this 
Section 7.5 (Family Care Leave) and Section 7.4 (Parental Leave) and as provided 
in Administrative Regulation 2.4 may not be combined to yield a larger amount of 
leave than the state or federal maximums and may not be combined to exceed the 
maximum one year period of parental leave provided by the City of Berkeley. 

 
7.6 Military Leave 

Employees will be granted a leave of absence without pay with appropriate 
seniority, pay, status and vacation as required by law for the purpose of fulfilling 
any required military obligation. 



24 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 8 - EMPLOYEE FRINGE BENEFITS 
 

8.1 Group Medical-Dental Insurance Benefits 

Benefitted employees and their dependents may participate in the City's group 
medical and dental benefits, which are summarized in the Appendix. 

 
8.1.1 Part Time Employment: All benefitted employees who work a minimum 

of twenty hours, but less than forty hours per week, qualify to receive 
prorated health and dental benefits and shall pay a pro rata portion of 
the health and dental insurance premiums. Full time career employees 
who accept part time employment in lieu of layoff shall continue to 
receive full health and dental benefits paid by the City. 

 
8.1.2 Medical Plan for Part-Time Employees: Effective November 1, 2016, 

the City will pay 75% of the cost of the medical plan which is fully paid 
for full-time employees for those benefitted part-time employees who 
work twenty (20) to twenty-nine (29) hours per week. The City will pay 
100% of the cost of the medical plan which is fully paid for benefitted full-
time employees for those part-time employees who work thirty (30) or 
more hours per week. 

 
8.1.3 Medical Contribution Executive Managers: Effective July 1, 2019, the 

City Manager, Deputy City Manager, and all department heads shall pay 
fifty dollars ($50.00) per month via pre-tax payroll deduction toward their 
health premium, and the City will pay an amount equal to the balance of 
the Kaiser monthly premium rate for the employee’s applicable single, 
two-party, or family employee category. 

 
8.2 Life Insurance 

The City provides basic group life insurance coverage by a carrier of the City's 
choice to all benefitted employees and pays the full amount of the life insurance 
coverage. The City also provides the option to benefitted employees to purchase 
additional coverage, at their own expense. A summary of the terms of the life 
insurance coverage is in the Appendix. 

 
8.3 Hourly Rated Employees in Lieu of Benefits 

Except for employees in the Aquatics Specialist II and Senior Aquatics Specialist 
classifications, the Salary Resolution shall provide that hourly-rated employees 
working in career benefitted classifications will receive an additional seven percent 
(7.0%) in lieu of benefits. 

 
8.4 Public Employees Retirement System: 

 
8.4.1 Participation: The City shall continue to participate in the 

Miscellaneous Employees Plan, the Safety Fire Plan and the Safety 



25 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Police Plan of the California Public Employees Retirement System 
("CalPERS"). All benefitted employees shall participate in one of these 
plans. 

 
8.4.2 “Classic Employees” Definition: Classic Employees are defined as 

current employees and future employees who do not qualify as “New 
Members” under the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act 
of 2013 (PEPRA). 

 
8.4.3 CalPERS Retirement Formula for Miscellaneous Employees “New 

Members” as Defined under PEPRA: Miscellaneous Employees “New 
Members” as defined by PEPRA who are hired by the City on or after 
January 1, 2013 shall be entitled to the 2% at age 62 retirement formula 
with the highest three (3) year average compensation as set forth in 
PEPRA. 

 
8.4.4 CalPERS Miscellaneous Employees Retirement Formula and 

Employer Paid Member Contribution for Classic Employees: 
Effective January 1, 2003, the City amended its Miscellaneous 
Employees Plan contract with CalPERS to provide the 2.7% at age 55- 
retirement formula benefit improvement and the City’s contribution to 
CalPERS on behalf of Miscellaneous employees increased from 7% to 
8%. Effective July 3, 1994, contributions made pursuant to this Section 
shall be reported to CalPERS as “special compensation” as provided in 
Government Code Section 20636(c)(4) pursuant to Section 20691. Said 
contributions shall not apply in the case of temporary or provisional 
employees. 

 
The contributions in Section 8.4.4 (CalPERS Miscellaneous Employees 
Retirement Formula and Employer Paid Member Contribution for 
Classic Employees) shall not be considered as a part of an employee's 
salary for the purpose of computing straight time earnings, 
compensation for overtime worked or for other differentials; nor shall 
such contributions be taken into account in determining the level of any 
other benefit which is a function of or percentage of salary. 

 
The City will not treat these contributions as compensation subject to 
income tax withholding unless the Internal Revenue Service or 
Franchise Tax Board indicates that such contributions are taxable 
income subject to withholding. Each employee shall be solely and 
personally responsible for any federal, state or local tax liability of the 
employee that may arise out of the implementation of this Section or any 
penalty that may be imposed therefore. 

 
8.4.5 Miscellaneous Employees Classic Employee Pension Contribution 

through a 20516 Contract Amendment 



26 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

8.4.5.1 June 4, 2017: Effective June 4, 2017, Miscellaneous 
employees will contribute one percent (1%) toward the City’s 
CalPERS employer share of pension through a 20516 
CalPERS amendment that allows such contributions via 
automatic payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis. Such employee 
deductions by the City shall be used towards the City’s 
CalPERS required contributions. 

 
8.4.5.2 December 31, 2017: Effective December 31, 2017, 

Miscellaneous employees will contribute an additional seven 
percent (7%) towards the City’s CalPERS employer share of 
pension through a 20516 CalPERS contract amendment that 
allows such contributions on a pre-tax basis, for a total of eight 
percent (8.0%), via automatic payroll deduction on a pre-tax 
basis. Such employee deductions by the City shall be used 
towards the City’s CalPERS required contributions. The parties 
recognize that the Employer Paid Member Contributions 
(EPMC) shall remain in effect as long as the CalPERS 
amendment stays in effect. 

 
8.4.5.3 If legislation is enacted requiring employers under the CalPERS 

retirement system to pay all of the employee’s share of 
retirement, thus eliminating the Employer Paid Member 
Contribution, the City may convert the employee’s contribution 
to the employer’s share under this Section 20516 CalPERS 
contract amendment to the employee’s share toward retirement 
and may continue to pay the 5.58% wage increase provided on 
December 31, 2017 associated with the CalPERS swap for 
Miscellaneous Classic Employees. 

 
8.4.6 Miscellaneous New Members’ Pension Contribution 

 
8.4.6.1 Miscellaneous New Members as defined in the California Public 

Employees’ Pension Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA), shall 
continue to pay 50% of the Normal Cost required under PEPRA. 

 
8.4.6.2 June 4, 2017: Effective June 4, 2017, in addition to the 

contribution in Section 8.4.6.1, Miscellaneous New Members 
shall contribute one percent (1.0%) toward the City’s CalPERS 
employer share of pension through a 20516 CalPERS 
amendment that allow such contributions as pre-tax via 
automatic payroll deduction. Such employee deductions by the 
City shall be used toward the City’s CalPERS required 
contributions. 

 
8.4.6.3 December 31, 2017: Effective December 31, 2017, in addition 

to the contributions in Sections 8.4.6.1 and 8.4.6.2 above, 



27 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Miscellaneous New Members shall contribute an additional 
seven percent (7.0%) towards the City’s CalPERS employer 
share of pension through a 20516 CalPERS contract 
amendment that allows such contributions as pre-tax, for a total 
of eight percent (8.0%) via automatic payroll deduction. Such 
employee deductions by the City shall be used towards the 
City’s CalPERS required contributions. 

 
8.4.6.4 Miscellaneous New Member contributions in Sections 8.4.6.2 

and 8.4.6.3 to the CalPERS 20516 employee contributions 
towards the employer rate are in addition to the required 50% 
of the normal share of cost of “New Members” (required 
pursuant to PEPRA)benefits and made in consideration of 
additional salary increases effective June 4, 2017 and 
December 31, 2017 and set forth in the Salary Resolution (a 
total of 5.58% in exchange for employees paying an additional 
eight percent (8.0%) towards CalPERS pension costs). 

 
8.4.6.5 Miscellaneous New Member contributions in Sections 8.4.6.2, 

8.4.6.3, and 8.4.6.4 to the CalPERS 20516 employee 
contributions towards the employer rate will be amended and 
reduced as follows: 

 

8.4.6.5.a  
 FY2021-22: 1% (Effective as soon as administratively 

possible following adoption of successor contract by the 
City Council) 

 FY2022-23: 1% effective July 1, 2022 

 FY2023-24: 1% effective July 1, 2023 
 FY2024-25: 2% effective July 1, 2024 
 FY2025-26: 2% effective July 1, 2025 
 FY 2026-27: 1% effective July 1, 2026 

 

8.4.6.5.b No change to Classic members’ contributions during the 
contract term. 

 
 

8.4.7 Public Safety CalPERS Retirement Formula for “New Members” as 
Defined Under PEPRA: Public Safety “New Members” as defined by 
PEPRA who are hired by the City on or after January 1, 2013 shall be 
entitled to the 2.7% at age 57 retirement formula with the highest three 
(3) year average compensation as set forth in PEPRA. 

 
8.4.8 Public Safety Classic Employees CalPERS Retirement Formula: 

The City agrees to provide the 3% at age 50-retirement formula benefit 



28 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

improvement (December 22, 2000 for Classic Fire Safety; and July 7, 
2002 for Classic Police Safety hired prior to December 28, 2011). 

 
For Classic Police Safety Employees hired on or after December 28, 
2011, the City provides the 3% at age 55-retirement formula benefit. 

 
8.4.9 Public Safety Fire Classic Employees’ CalPERS Pension 

Contribution: On July 1, 1994, the City increased the base salary of 
Classic Employees participating in the Safety Fire Plan, in the amount 
of nine percent (9%). Employees then assumed, and shall continue to 
assume responsibility for payment of the normal employee retirement 
contribution to CalPERS. The City shall designate such payments as an 
Employer Pickup as defined under the provisions of Section 414(h)(2) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. The employee contributions shall be made 
through automatic payroll deduction. 

 
Cost Share: Effective November 8, 2015 (the first full pay period after 
Council approval of this Unrepresented Employee Manual), Public 
Safety Fire Classic Employees shall contribute two percent (2%) toward 
the City’s CalPERS employer contribution rate via automatic payroll 
deduction on a pre-tax basis. 

 
8.4.10 Public Safety Police Classic Employees’ CalPERS Pension 

Contribution: On July 1, 1994, the City increased the base salary of 
Classic Employees participating in the Safety Police Plan, in the amount 
of nine percent (9%). Employees then assumed, and shall continue to 
assume responsibility for payment of the normal employee retirement 
contribution to CalPERS. The City shall designate such payments as an 
Employer Pickup as defined under the provisions of Section 414(h)(2) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. The employee contributions shall be made 
through automatic payroll deduction. 

 
Effective January 3, 2016, Police Public Safety Classic Employees shall 
contribute one percent (1%) toward the City’s CalPERS employer 
contribution rate via automatic payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis. And, 
effective July 3, 2016, Police Public Safety Classic employees shall 
contribute an additional one percent (1%), for a total of two percent (2%) 
toward the City’s CalPERS employer contribution rate via automatic 
payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis. 

 
8.4.11 Public Safety Fire New Members CalPERS Pension Contribution: 

Public Safety Fire New Members hired on or after January 1, 2013 shall 
pay fifty percent (50%) of the normal share of cost as required pursuant 
to PEPRA. 

 
Cost Share: Effective November 8, 2015 (the first full pay period after 
Council approval of this Unrepresented Employee Manual), Fire New 



29 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Members shall also contribute an additional two percent (2%) of 
pensionable compensation, in addition to the PEPRA mandated 50% of 
the normal share of cost, toward the City’s CalPERS employer 
contribution rate through automatic payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis 

 
8.4.12 Public Safety Police New Members CalPERS Pension Contribution: 

Public Safety Police New Members New Members hired on or after 
January 1, 2013 shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the normal share of cost 
required by PEPRA. 

 
Cost Share: Effective January 3, 2016, Public Safety Police New 
Members shall also contribute one percent (1%) of pensionable 
compensation (in addition to contributing 50% of the normal share of 
cost) towards the City’s CalPERS employer contribution rate through 
automatic payroll deduction on a pre-tax basis. And, effective July 3, 
2016, Police Public Safety New Members shall contribute an additional 
one percent (1%), for a total of two percent (2%), in addition to the 
PEPRA mandated 50% of the normal share of cost, toward the City’s 
CalPERS employer contribution rate through automatic payroll 
deduction on a pre-tax basis. 

 
8.4.13 CalPERS Options Available to Berkeley Employees: The City’s 

contract with CalPERS includes the following optional benefits: 
 

a) Classic Employees Only - One-Year Final Compensation as 
provided in Section 20042 (July 9, 1978 for Miscellaneous; July 22, 
1976 for Fire and Police). 

 
b) Post Retirement Survivor Allowance as provided in Sections 21624, 

21626 and 21628 (December 16, 1973 for Miscellaneous; March 1, 
1973 for Fire and Police). 

 
c) Post Retirement Survivor Allowance to Continue after Remarriage as 

provided in Section 21635 (July 18, 1986). 

 
d) Credit for Unused Sick Leave as provided in Section 20965 (June 

26, 1988). 

 
e) 1959 Survivor Benefits to Surviving Spouse at Age 60 as provided in 

Section 21580 (December 16, 1973 for Miscellaneous; March 1, 
1973 for Fire and Police). 

 
f) Third Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits as provided in Section 21573 

(November 28, 1996). 



30 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

g) Fourth Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits as provided in Section 21574 
for Police Safety only (October 15, 1998). 

 
h) Military Service Credit as Public Service as provided in Section 

21024 (April 9, 1999 for Miscellaneous; July 14, 2000 for Fire; 
November 6, 1998 for Police). 

 
i) Public Service Credit for Peace Corps or America Corps: Vista 

Service as provided in Section 21023.5. (April 14, 2000). 

 
j) Classic Fire - 3% @ 50 for Local Safety Members as provided in 

Section 21362.2 for Fire members only, (December 22, 2000); and 
for Police members only (July 7, 2002.). 

 
k) Classic Police Hired Prior to December 28, 2012: 3% @ 50 for Local 

Safety Classic Members as provided in Section 21362.2 for Police 
members only (July 7, 2002). 

 
l) Classic Police: 3% @ 55 for Local Safety Classic Members as 

provided in Section 21363.1 for Police members only (December 28, 
2012). 

 
m) Classic Miscellaneous: 2.7% at age 55 for miscellaneous members 

as provided in Section 21354.2 on January 5, 2003. 

 
n) New Members Miscellaneous: 2% at age 62 for Miscellaneous New 

Members as defined by PEPRA on January 1, 2013. 

 
o) New Members Police and Fire: 2.7% @ 57 for Local Safety New 

Members as defined by PEPRA (January 1, 2013). 

 
p) Indexed Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits as provided in Section 

21574.5 for Fire Safety only (June 13, 2003). 
 

8.4.14 Unused Sick Leave Conversion: The conversion of unused sick leave 
to CalPERS Retirement Credit for Unused Sick Leave under 
Government Section 20965 shall be made available to qualified retiring 
employees. This allows employees to convert unused accumulated sick 
leave at time of retirement, for which the employee receives no 
compensation, to additional service credit at the rate of 0.004 year of 
service credit for each day. This credit applies to qualified employees 



31 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

whose effective date of retirement is within four months of separation 
from employment. The CalPERS sick leave conversion applies to 
accumulated sick leave, exclusive of the amount of accumulated sick 
leave paid out to the employee pursuant to Section 4.11 (Accrued Sick 
Leave Cancellation Upon Termination), of this Manual. 

 
8.4.15 Retirement Benefit Allowance: CalPERS retirement benefits are 

calculated on a formula based on the participating employee's years of 
service, age at retirement, and percentage of highest year 
compensation. For employees participating in the Local Miscellaneous 
Employees Plan, the percentage is 2.7% at age 55 effective January 5, 
2003. For Classic Employees participating in the Fire Safety Employees 
Plan, the percentage is three percent (3%) at age 50 effective December 
22, 2000. For Classic Employees participating in the Police Safety 
Employees Plan, the percentage is three percent (3%) at age 50 
effective July 7, 2002. For Classic Employees participating in the Police 
Safety Employee Plan effective December 28, 2012, the percentage is 
three percent (3%) at age 55. 

 
8.5 Supplementary Retirement and Income Plans 

In lieu of participating in the Federal Social Security Program, the City provides a 
supplemental retirement and income plan to most benefitted employees. There 
are three supplementary retirement and income plans: Supplementary Retirement 
and Income Plans I, II and III ("SRIP I, II and III"). The City's contributions to these 
plans on behalf of participating employees is not subject to income tax until it is 
paid out to the employees upon retirement or termination, or to the employee's 
beneficiary in the event of the employee's death. 

 
8.5.1 SRIP I: In SRIP I, the City contributes 5.7% of the participating 

employee's salary (up to a maximum annual salary of $32,400) into an 
investment account and 1% into a long term permanent disability plan. 
SRIP I was closed to new participants on July 22, 1988. 

 
8.5.2 SRIP II: In SRIP II, the City contributes 6.7% of the participating 

employee's salary (up to a maximum annual salary of $32,400) into an 
investment account and pays into a disability insurance benefit plan on 
the employee's behalf; and employees may also borrow up to 50% of 
the balance in their SRIP II investment accounts, subject to certain 
limitations. All employees, including the Fire Chief, hired (or who are 
subsequently enrolled by resolution of the City Council) after July 22, 
1988 are automatically enrolled in SRIP II. 

 
The Deputy Fire Chief is enrolled, effective July 1, 1993. 

 
8.5.3 SRIP III: For eligible Police Safety employees, the City contributes 2% 

of the employee’s salary (up to a maximum annual salary of $32,400) 
into the investment account, SRIP III. 



32 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

8.6 Deferred Compensation 

Benefitted City employees are eligible to participate in the City's Deferred 
Compensation Plan through voluntary payroll deductions from the employee's 
salary. The Deferred Compensation Plan allows employees to defer part of their 
salaries, in accordance with Internal Revenue Service limits, to a separate fund, 
which is not subject to income tax until it is paid out to the employee upon 
retirement or termination, or to the employee's beneficiary in the event of the 
employee's death. 

 
8.7 PARS 

At-will employees who are not eligible to receive fringe benefits under this chapter 
are automatically enrolled in the Public Agency Retirement System ("PARS"). 
Each pay period, such employee shall contribute 3.75% of his or her salary into 
the employee's PARS account on a tax deferred basis and the City shall contribute 
a matching amount equaling 3.75 % of the employee's salary. The employee's 
PARS account balance will be distributed to the employee upon retirement or 
termination, or to the employee's beneficiary in the event of the employee's death. 

 
8.8 Public Safety Uniform Allowance 

Due to the requirement for sworn fire and police department management 
personnel to wear standard and dress uniforms in the performance of their duties, 
the City Manager may provide for the payment of uniform allowance, in keeping 
with the allowance provided to other fire and police personnel, as shown in the 
Appendix. The uniform allowance is intended to cover uniform expenses incurred 
during active service prior to the payment and shall be paid semi-annually, in 
installments of equal amounts. To comply with CALPERS requirement, Union 
allowance payments shall be paid over twenty-six (26) equal biweekly installments 
instead of twice a year payment. 

 
8.9 Supplemental Retirement Plan and Trust Agreement 

Effective July 1, 2001, the City adopted a Supplemental Retirement Plan and Trust 
Agreement to provide supplemental retirement income and other benefits for 
eligible unrepresented career benefited and regular at-will employees through the 
liquidation of termination pay. Termination pay means pay due to an eligible 
unrepresented career benefited and regular at-will employee from the City on 
account of termination of his or her employment, but only including the commuted 
value of the following such accumulated pay: vacation, sick leave, sick leave 
bonus, compensatory time and floating holidays. The Supplemental Retirement 
Plan includes both mandatory contributions of termination pay and voluntary 
contributions for employees who provide the City with an irrevocable payroll 
deduction authorization at least 90 days in advance of the date of termination. 



33 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 9 - EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL 
 

9.1 Employment At-Will 

An employee who is employed in a position that is excluded from the career service 
by Berkeley Municipal Code Section 4.04.120 of the Personnel Ordinance is 
employed by the City in an "at-will" status. This means that both the at-will 
employee and the City have the right to terminate employment at any time, with or 
without advance notice, and with or without cause. No employee or officer of the 
City of Berkeley has the authority to alter the employee's at-will status or to enter 
into an oral or written agreement for employment for a specified period of time, or 
to make any promises, assurances or agreements contrary to this the provisions 
of this Section. 

 
9.2 No Right to Appeal Discharge 

An at-will employee who is discharged has no right of appeal or hearing in any 
manner provided by this Manual. 

 
9.3 Benefits 

Those offices, positions and employments named in the Berkeley Municipal Code, 
Sections 4.04.120 (A), (B) and (C) who regularly work twenty or more hours per 
week are classified as regular at-will employees and shall be entitled to those 
benefits as specified for benefitted employees by this. A list of regular at-will 
positions entitled to receive such benefits is in the Appendix. 

 
All other offices, positions and employments named in the Berkeley Municipal 
Code, Section 4.04.120, are not eligible for any benefits provided under these 
Rules, except those expressly specified for temporary employees, such as the 
Earned Leave benefit or those required by State or Federal law such as Family 
Care Leave and enrollment in the City's PARS retirement plan, as provided in this 
Manual. 

 
9.4 Standards of Conduct 

At-will employees are subject to the same standards of conduct that prevail over 
employees in the career service. Any evaluations, warnings or disciplinary action 
provided to at-will employees regarding their conduct or job performance does not 
create any obligation or duty on the City's part to provide a warning or evaluation 
or corrective progressive discipline prior to discharge and in no way negates or 
otherwise abrogates the City's right to discharge at-will employees for any reason 
without notice at any time during their employment and without right of appeal. 

 
9.5 Transfer or Appointment of Career Employee to an At-Will Position 

Any employee in the career service who accepts a transfer or appointment to an 
at-will position shall be reinstated to the career position from which he or she was 
transferred or appointed if within six months after such transfer or appointment, 
action is taken to dismiss the employee, unless charges are filed and the employee 



34 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

is discharged in accordance with these Rules. After expiration of the six month 
period, the employee is excluded from the career service and from any retreat 
rights to former career positions and is subject to termination at any time, with or 
without advance notice, with or without cause, and without the right of appeal. 



35 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 10 - LAYOFF POLICY AND PROCEDURE 
 

10.1 Statement of Intent 

This layoff policy is intended to provide the maximum employment protection to 
employees in the career service and to minimize the impact on the City's 
affirmative action accomplishments should a layoff become necessary. 

 
10.2 Announcement of Layoff 

The City Council, City Manager and department heads shall make every 
reasonable effort to manage and budget the City's resources effectively, and to 
plan for the delivery of City services in a manner which will avoid the necessity to 
lay off career City employees. A reduction in the workforce for more than thirty 
calendar days is necessitated by, but not limited to, the following a material change 
in duties and organization, adverse working conditions, return of employee from 
leave of absence, or shortage of work or fund. In the event of a layoff, the City 
Manager shall notify the Director of Human Resources of the intended action and 
the reason for the layoff. 

 
10.3 Vacancy Freeze 

Immediately following a decision which may involve the potential layoff of career 
City employees, the City Manager shall freeze all current City vacancies in the 
career service in similar and related classes to those likely to be targeted for layoff. 
The City Manager shall notify the department heads of a freeze of vacancies in 
their departments and shall require that requisitions continue to be submitted for 
any budgeted positions which the department head intends to fill and for which 
funding is available. 

 
10.4 Seniority Service Date 

All service in the employ of the City shall be counted toward the establishment of 
an employee's Seniority Service Date, including permanent, probationary, 
provisional, temporary, part time (on a prorated basis), seasonal, regular at-will 
employment, and approved military and parental leaves of absence. All other 
leaves without pay, including time off as a result of formal disciplinary action will 
be subtracted from the Seniority Service Date. 

 
10.5 Establishment of Seniority Lists 

Layoffs shall be made according to City-wide class Seniority Lists which the 
Human Resources Department will immediately establish for probationary and 
permanent employees in each class targeted for layoff. The names of all City 
employees holding permanent and probationary appointments in a given class will 
be listed on the appropriate list in descending order by Seniority Service Date. 

 
Probationary or permanent employees temporarily acting out of class and holding 
a provisional appointment in another class will be listed on the Seniority List of the 
class in which they hold permanent or probationary status. 



36 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

10.6 Order of Layoff 

Employees within a specific class shall be laid off on the basis of their Seniority 
Service Date; i.e., employees with the least amount of total service shall be laid off 
first. All emergency, temporary and provisional employees working in classes 
similar to those identified for layoff must be terminated prior to the layoff of 
probationary and permanent employees. Probationary employees will be laid off 
prior to permanent employees for a specific class. 

 
10.6.1 Tie: If two or more employees on a Seniority List have an identical 

Seniority Service Date, the tie shall be broken in the following order: (1) 
time in class--the employee having least time in the class shall be laid 
off first, and (2) by lot. 

 
10.6.2 Administrative & Fiscal Services Manager Position in the Berkeley 

Public Library: This is a specialty designated position within the 
Administrative & Fiscal Services Manager classification, and will be 
treated as a separate classification for the purpose of administering the 
Layoff Policy and Procedure. 

 
10.7 Notification 

Permanent and probationary employees should be notified individually, in writing, 
of pending layoffs as soon as possible, with no less than thirty calendar days 
notification if targeted for termination or retreat to a lower class. 

 
All other employees to be laid off shall be given, whenever possible, at least a 
fourteen (14) calendar day prior notice. 

 
10.8 Employee Retreat Rights 

A probationary or permanent employee affected by layoff shall have the right to 
displace an employee in a lower level class in which the affected employee once 
had permanent status or in a subsequently created intermediate level career class 
which provides normal progression through the class series. Retreat rights shall 
also extend to employees who have not previously been promoted through a class 
but for whom the class is a natural progression or beginning in the class series. 
Retreat rights into a lower class will be granted in order of the highest seniority 
date on the Seniority List for employees in that class. 

 
10.8.1 Qualified to Retreat into More than One Classification: When an 

employee is qualified to retreat into more than one class, the options 
shall be discussed with the employee and due consideration given to the 
employee's preferences. However, it is the prerogative of the City 
Manager to determine the final placement offer to the employee 

 
10.8.2 Salary Step: Employees retreating to a lower class or being flexibly 

placed in a similar class shall be placed at the salary step representing 



37 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

the least loss of pay. In no case shall the salary be increased above 
that received in the class from which the employee was laid off. 

 
10.8.3 Reinstatement after Transfer: An employee whose position is 

abolished and is transferred in lieu of layoff shall have the right to return 
to the position if it is restored within one year of the date of the transfer. 

 
10.9 Flexible Placement Program 

After all frozen vacant positions have been filled by employees entitled to retreat 
rights under Section 10.8 (Employee Retreat Rights) of this chapter, the Human 
Resources Department will review and identify the remaining frozen vacant 
classes into which career employees targeted for layoff who have not retreated 
into a lower class may be placed on the basis of total experience and education. 

 
10.9.1 Failure to Meet Minimum Requirements: Where the targeted 

employee does not meet the minimum qualifications of a frozen vacant 
position, the City Manager has the discretion to either waive the 
minimum qualifications and/or substitute the targeted employee's job- 
related experience and education for the minimum qualifications, but 
under no circumstances is the City Manager required to do so. Where 
the employee does not meet the minimum qualifications, flexible 
placement can occur only if the City Manager determines that 
management and supervisory personnel are able to provide adequate 
supervised on-the-job training to the employee to meet the requirements 
of the job. The employee must successfully complete the training within 
six months as determined by the Director of Human Resources or the 
employee shall be again subject to the layoff procedures. 

 
10.9.2 Salary Range: Assignments under the Flexible Placement Program 

shall be limited to positions in the same or lesser salary range as the 
classification from which the employee is to be laid off. 

 
10.9.3 Order of Assignment: Offers to positions under the Flexible Placement 

Program shall be made according to the employee's standing on the 
Seniority List. 

 
10.10 Failure to Accept Offer under Layoff 

Failure on the part of an employee to accept a written bona fide offer to retreat to 
a lower class or be flexibly placed in an alternative job within ten calendar days 
after the offer is made shall result in forfeiture of any further right to employment 
retention. Acceptance of a reassignment to a lower class does not remove the 
employee's right of appeal under Section 10.12 (Appeal Procedures) nor does 
acceptance of an alternative job under the Flexible Placement Program jeopardize 
an employee's standing on the re-employment lists as further provided in this 
Section 10.10 (Failure to Accept Offer under Layoff). 



38 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

10.11 Re-Employment List 

The names of probationary and permanent employees laid off in accordance with 
this chapter shall be entered on a re-employment list for both those classes from 
which they were separated as well as other classes to which they have retreat 
rights. 

 
10.11.1 Duration of List: Re-employment lists for laid off employees who are 

separated from City service shall remain in effect for three years. Re- 
employment lists for laid off employees who are demoted shall remain 
in effect indefinitely. 

 
10.11.2 Use of List: Re-employment lists shall be used by each department 

when a vacancy arises in the same or lower class of position before 
certification is made from an eligible list. 

 
10.11.3 Order of Appointment: Employees on the re-employment list shall be 

certified and appointed to a vacancy in the appropriate class according 
to their standing on the Seniority List. 

 
10.11.4 Failure to Appoint from Re-Employment List: If a vacancy is filled 

from an eligible list in a class for which a re-employment list exists which 
is a violation of this Section, the employee on the re-employment list who 
should have been appointed shall be appointed to the vacancy and paid 
retroactively from the date the vacancy occurred. 

 
10.11.5 Failure to Accept Bona Fide Offer: Failure on the part of the employee 

on the re-employment list to accept a bona fide written offer of re- 
employment within fifteen calendar days will result in removal of the 
employee's name from the re-employment list from which the offer was 
made. Failure to accept an offer of re-employment to the class with the 
highest salary range for which the employee is eligible for re- 
employment will result in automatic removal of the employee's name 
from all re-employment lists. The employee may, however, accept or 
decline temporary re-employment without jeopardizing his or her 
standing the re-employment list for the class from which he or she was 
originally terminated. 

 
10.11.6 Salary Step: Upon reappointment to the class from which the employee 

was originally separated or demoted, the employee shall be placed at 
the salary step that the employee held at the time of the separation or 
demotion. 

 
10.11.7 Reinstatement List: Any former employee on a re-employment list 

shall be included as an eligible on the reinstatement list for a specific 
class at or below the class from which layoff occurred, upon written 
request by the employee for reinstatement which is submitted with a 
current, completed City of Berkeley application and upon meeting the 



39 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

minimum qualifications of the specific class unless waived by the City 
Manager as provided under flexible placement. 

 
10.12 Appeal Procedures 

The decision of the City Manager to implement a layoff is not appealable. Any 
unrepresented career employee who believes that the layoff procedure, as defined 
herein, has been improperly administered as to the employee may appeal the 
action under the Complaints, Appeals and Hearing Procedure of this Manual. 
Employees are entitled to review all records pertaining to their class and their rights 
under the provisions of the layoff policy. 

 
10.13 Audit 

In the event of a dispute between an employee and the City over the application 
of the re-employment list and if either party so requests, the City Manager's Office 
shall order an audit by an outside auditor of all vacant positions filled in each 
department to determine whether vacancies were filled in compliance with the 
procedures for appointments from re-employment lists set forth in Section 10.11 
(Re-Employment List) of this Manual. In the event vacancies for which re- 
employment lists were in existence remain unfilled, the auditor shall offer an 
opinion as to whether or not the reasons for leaving the positions vacant appear to 
be legitimate. A report of the audit shall be transmitted to the City Manager and 
the City Council. 



40 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 11 - DISCIPLINARY ACTION 
 

11.1 Policy 

Prior to the suspension, disciplinary demotion or discharge of an employee in the 
career service for disciplinary purposes, the procedure set forth in this Article 11 
(Disciplinary Action) shall be complied with provided, however, that only those 
employees in the career service who are not represented by a labor organization 
shall be entitled to the notice, rights and procedures provided under Section 11.3 
(Disciplinary Actions). 

 
11.2 Final Decision Maker for Disciplinary Action 

For purposes of this chapter, the City Manager is the final decision maker for City 
of Berkeley employees. The Rent Stabilization Board is the final decision maker 
for Rent Stabilization Program employees. The Library Board of Trustees is the 
final decision maker for Library employees. 

 
11.3 Disciplinary Actions 

The department head shall initiate disciplinary procedures, as set forth here. The 
department head may suspend a subordinate employee for not more than three 
working days at any one time. For suspensions of more than three days, 
disciplinary demotions and discharge, the department head shall make a 
recommendation to the final decision-maker. The final decision-maker may 
suspend an employee from a position at any time for cause. Suspension without 
pay shall not exceed thirty working days, nor shall any employee be penalized by 
suspension for more than thirty working days in any continuous twelve month 
period. However, FLSA exempt employees shall not be suspended in less than 
regular workweek increments except for safety or security violations. A "regular 
workweek" is defined elsewhere by this Manual. 

 
11.4 Written Reprimands for Fire Safety Employees 

Consistent with the Firefighter Bill of Rights Act, the Deputy Fire Chief receiving a 
written reprimand shall have the right to a non-evidentiary administrative appeal to 
the Fire Chief or Fire Chief’s designee. The employee must request an 
administrative appeal in writing to the Fire Chief within ten (10) working days of 
receipt of the written reprimand. Failure to do so shall be deemed a waiver of the 
employee’s right to appeal. The Fire Chief or Fire Chief’s designee shall have 
discretion regarding how the appeal meeting is conducted, including whether and 
the extent to which witnesses other than the employee and employee’s 
representative are required and may participate. The Fire Chief or Fire Chief’s 
designee shall notify the employee of his or her decision within ten (10) working 
days of the appeal meeting. An employee and the Association have no further right 
to appeal or grieve a written reprimand beyond the administrative appeal described 
in this paragraph. 



41 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

11.5 Written Reprimands for Non- Safety Employees 

In the event that an employee receives a written reprimand, the employee may 
write a rebuttal within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving the written reprimand 
and such rebuttal will be placed in the Personnel File along with the written 
reprimand. Employees have not right to appeal or grieve a written reprimand. 



42 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

ARTICLE 12 - COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND HEARINGS 
 

12.1 Policy 

The procedure for filing complaints and appeals by employees set forth under this 
Article 12 shall be complied with provided, however, that only those employees in 
the career service who are not represented by a labor organization shall be entitled 
to file complaints with the City and appeals to the Personnel Board pursuant to the 
provisions of this Manual. 

 
12.2 Final Decision Maker for Purposes of this Article 

For purposes of this chapter, the City Manager is the final decision maker for City 
of Berkeley employees. The Rent Stabilization Board is the final decision maker 
for Rent Stabilization Program employees. The Library Board of Trustees is the 
final decision maker for Library employees. 

 
12.3 Complaints 

Disciplinary action shall be taken in accordance with Article 11 (Disciplinary Action) 
of this Manual. All other complaints by employees, except complaints about 
compensation, which allege a violation of the Personnel Ordinance or this Manual 
shall be filed through proper channels, commencing with the department head, and 
then to the final decision maker. 

 
12.3.1 Compensation Complaints: All complaints involving or concerning the 

payment of compensation shall be initially filed in writing with the 
Director of Human Resources. The Director of Human Resources shall 
respond in writing within thirty (30) working days. If the complaint has 
not been resolved within thirty (30) working days of filing with the Director 
of Human Resources, the complaint may be moved to the final decision 
maker. Only complaints, which allege that employees are not being 
compensated in accordance with the policies, rules and resolutions of 
the City Council, shall be considered as complaints under this Section. 
No compensation adjustment shall be retroactive for more than thirty 
calendar days from the date upon which the complaint was filed or thirty 
calendar days from the date when an employee may reasonably be 
expected to have learned of the claimed violation. 

 
Appeal: If the grievant is not satisfied with the decision of the Director 
of Human Resources or his or her designee, the grievant may move the 
complaint to the final decision maker within ten (10) days of receipt of 
the decision rendered under Section 12.3.1 above. Failure by the 
employee to file an appeal within the specified time limits specified 
constitutes a dropping of the complaint. If both parties agree, the time 
limits may be waived for a specific period of time at any step in this 
procedure. 



43 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

12.3.2 Discrimination Complaints: An employee may file a complaint 
concerning a violation of the "FAIR EMPLOYMENT" provision specified 
by the rules of this Manual, and the complaint shall be processed in 
accordance with the EEO Complaint Investigation and Resolution 
Procedure of the City of Berkeley EEO/Affirmative Action Program, as 
established in Resolution No. 54,926-N.S., as amended from time to 
time. 

 
12.4 Right of Appeal 

An aggrieved employee shall have the right to appeal the decision of the final 
decision-maker regarding the aggrieved employee's disciplinary dismissal, 
demotion, suspension or complaint to the Personnel Board except in instances 
where the right to appeal is prohibited by the Personnel Ordinance or the 
provisions of this Manual. 

 
12.5 Method of Appeal 

Appeals to the Personnel Board shall be in writing, signed by the aggrieved 
employee and filed with the Director of Human Resources within ten calendar days 
after the action is imposed. The appeal shall be a written statement, addressed to 
the Chair of the Personnel Board, explaining the matter appealed from and setting 
forth a statement of the action desired by the aggrieved employee, supported by 
his or her reasons. The Director of Human Resources shall, within ten calendar 
days after receipt of the appeal, inform the Chair of the Personnel Board, the City 
Manager and the affected department head of the filing and contents of the appeal 
with the Board. 

 
12.6 Investigations and Hearings 

Upon receipt of any appeal, the Personnel Board shall make such investigation, 
as it may deem necessary. 

 
An aggrieved employee who has been demoted for a disciplinary purpose, 
suspended or discharged is entitled to a hearing upon appeal before the Personnel 
Board. As to all other appeals, the Personnel Board may grant a hearing or decide 
the appeal without a hearing as it may deem warranted. 

 
12.7 Hearing Procedures 

In cases where the employee is entitled to a hearing as a matter of right and in 
other cases whenever the Board may deem it advisable to hold a hearing, these 
procedures shall apply. 

 
12.7.1 Notice: The Personnel Board shall schedule a hearing on the appeal 

within forty-five calendar days from the date of the filing of an appeal. 
The Director of Human Resources shall notify all interested parties of 
the date, time and place of the hearing at such places as the Personnel 
Board shall prescribe. 



44 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

12.7.2 Hearing Procedure: The aggrieved employee shall appear personally 
unless physically unable to do so before the Personnel Board at the time 
and place of the hearing. The aggrieved employee may be represented 
by any person or attorney as may be selected and may at the hearing 
produce relevant oral or documentary evidence. The party who has the 
burden of proof shall state the case first after which opposition matter 
may be presented. Rebuttal matter that is not repetitive may be allowed 
at the discretion of the Personnel Board. Cross-examination of 
witnesses shall be permitted. Hearings need not be conducted 
according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses, but shall 
be conducted according to any rules of applicable procedures. Hearings 
shall be closed unless otherwise required by the Ralph M. Brown Act, 
Government Code Section 54950, as amended from time to time, or any 
other applicable law. 

 
12.8 Findings and Recommendations 

The Personnel Board shall, within thirty calendar days after the conclusion of the 
hearing, or if no hearing was conducted, within thirty calendar days of its decision, 
certify its findings and recommendation(s) in writing to the aggrieved employee 
and to the final decision-maker. The final decision maker shall review the findings 
and recommendation(s) of the Personnel Board and may then affirm, reject or 
modify the Personnel Board's findings and recommendation(s) as, in his or her 
judgment, seems warranted, and the final decision maker's decision shall be final. 
Any member of the Personnel Board may submit a minority or supplemental report 
which shall be attached to the findings and recommendation(s) of the Board. 



45 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

APPENDIX 

This Appendix contains detailed information regarding benefits and compensation which 
covers unrepresented benefitted employees. It is appended to the Unrepresented 
Employee Manual but the contents are not part of the resolution establishing the 
Unrepresented Employee Manual and may be changed to reflect changes in benefit 
details, as approved by the City Council by resolution. 

 
13.1 Administrative Leave 

Employees who are in career, benefitted, or at-will benefitted classifications which 
are FLSA Exempt may be approved by the City Manager to receive up to an 
additional 50 hours of compensated administrative leave beginning on January 1, 
2016, and at the beginning of each calendar year thereafter, or prorated during the 
course of the year when employed less than a full year. This administrative leave 
is granted to employees whose job responsibilities cause them to work numerous 
hours in excess of the normal City workweek. The City Manager has the authority 
to rescind administrative leave in those instances of abuse or misuse of the intent 
of this provision. 

 
Administrative leave taken must be approved in advance by the department head 
and posted to the employee's timecard. Unused administrative leave may be 
carried over to the next calendar year, providing the total of excess vacation and 
unused administrative leave do not exceed 320 hours. Otherwise, the excess 
administrative leave must be taken within the calendar year in which it was earned 
or it may be forfeited. Upon termination or retirement, no monetary award will be 
authorized for unused accumulated administrative leave. 

 
13.1.1 Prorated Administrative Leave: A benefitted employee who is otherwise 

eligible for overtime and who is on a temporary or provisional benefitted 
appointment in an FLSA Exempt classification for a period of one month or 
longer, and is ineligible to earn overtime, shall be entitled to prorated 
Administrative leave for the duration of the temporary or provisional 
appointment. Any unused administrative leave at the end of the temporary 
or provisional appointment will roll into vacation, provided the total of 
accrued and unused vacation and accrued administrative leave do not 
exceed 320 hours. 

 
13.2 Automobile Allowance 

The City reimbursement rate for the use of a private automobile on authorized City 
business will be equal to the amount established by the Internal Revenue Service. 

 
13.3 Bilingual Premium Pay 

 
13.3.1 As Part of Regular Job Assignment: An employee who is required as 

an essential part of his or her job to provide non-English language 
services, including Braille and sign language, routinely and consistently 
as part of his or her regular job assignment as determined by the City 



46 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

will receive a Bilingual Premium Pay Differential of 5%. The employee 
must agree to use the bilingual skill during his or her normal work shift 
regardless of assignment. The Bilingual Premium Pay Differential of 5% 
will be reported to CalPERS as Bilingual Premium Special Assignment 
Pay. However, any hours worked on overtime are excluded from 
CalPERS reported “compensation earnable” in California Government 
Code Section 20635. 

 
13.3.2 Occasional Assignments: An employee assigned occasionally to 

provide non-English language services, including Braille and sign 
language, when either a) assigned by management, or b) at the request 
of the employee with the supervisor’s agreement, or, c) after a job audit 
will receive a Bilingual Premium Pay Differential of 2%. The employee 
must agree to use the bilingual skill during his or her normal work shift 
regardless of assignment. The Bilingual Premium Pay Differential of 2% 
will be reported to CalPERS as Bilingual Premium Special Assignment 
Pay. However, any hours worked on overtime are excluded from 
CalPERS reported “compensation earnable” in California Government 
Code Section 20635. 

 
13.3.3 Competency and Management Rights: The bilingual premium will not 

be applicable under any circumstances except to an employee who 
possesses second language competency. Management reserves the 
right to test for second language appropriate competency prior to a 
Bilingual Premium Pay Differential. 

 
13.3.4 Temporary Designation: The City may designate an employee to 

receive either the 5% or 2% Bilingual Premium Pay Differential on a 
temporary basis for a specified period provided the employee met the 
requirements contained in the first or second paragraph of this Section. 

 
13.4 Cash-In-Lieu Payments 

For those employees who are able to show proof of ongoing alternate group 
medical coverage, the City will compensate employees $560.00 per month, 
prorated for less than full-time employees. This benefit shall be frozen at this 
amount. To comply with FLSA laws, health insurance in-lieu payments shall be 
paid over twenty-six (26) equal biweekly installments instead of once a month. 

 
13.5 Dependent Care 

Employees shall be allowed to designate a specific amount of salary, consistent 
with State and Federal tax laws, to be redirected to pay for dependent care costs 
through pre-tax salary deductions. The amount of funds designated should be 
considered carefully, because under the current tax code, any unexpended funds 
which have not been spent for the specific purpose of paid dependent care and 
remain in the employee's account at the end of the year, will be forfeited. 



47 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

13.6 Life Insurance 

The City shall provide paid group life insurance, by a carrier of the City's choice, in 
the amount of $25,000 which shall include a standard accidental death and 
dismemberment provision of a like amount. Employees in the classification of 
Police Chief and Fire Chief shall be provided with life insurance in the amount of 
$100,000, which shall include a standard accidental death and dismemberment 
provision of a like amount. Life insurance shall become effective the first day of 
the calendar month following appointment, and shall continue until the last day of 
the calendar month in a pay status. 

 
In addition, all unrepresented benefitted employees may purchase additional 
coverage, in increments of $10,000, up to a maximum of $300,000, at the rate 
offered by the City’s insurance carrier, subject to any rules and restrictions of the 
carrier, including but not limited to any medical exam that might be required by the 
insurance carrier. 

 
13.7 Medical/Dental Insurance for Employees/Dependents 

Except as provided in Section 8.1 (Group Medical-Dental Insurance Benefits), the 
City offers fully paid and/ or partially paid health insurance plans and a fully paid 
dental plan for the employee and eligible dependents, including a domestic 
partner. The dental plan currently provides orthodontic coverage for the 
employee's dependent children through age 26 and 90% of the Bay Area Usual, 
Customary and Reasonable charges. Effective January 1, 2007, the maximum 
annual coverage will be $2,000 annual coverage, and $2,000 lifetime orthodontia 
limit. Any employee, who is required to partially pay premiums, shall be allowed 
to make these payments with pre-tax deductions. The medical and dental benefit 
coverage for dependent children extends to the date of their 26th birthday, 
providing they meet the Internal Revenue Service definition of "dependent". If an 
employee chooses to complete and submit an Affidavit of Domestic Partnership 
and sign up for medical benefits and/or dental benefits for his or her domestic 
partner, the employee shall be subject to federal and state income tax withholding. 

 
Medical and dental benefits shall begin the first day of the calendar month following 
the date of hire, and end the last day of the month an employee is in pay status, 
except in the case of parental and Family and Medical Leave Act, as described in 
the Administrative Regulation No. 2.4. Maximum annual coverage amounts are 
found in the Employee Benefits Handbook. 

 
13.7.1 Dental Coverage for Fire Management: Effective January 15, 2015, 

employees in the classification of Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief, shall 
be provided with dental insurance with an annual maximum coverage of 
$3,000 and lifetime orthodontia limit of $3,000. 



48 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

13.8 Retiree Medical Plan 

The terms and conditions of this benefit shall be set forth in a separate document 
which shall contain a full plan description and shall control the administration of the 
retiree medical plan. 

 
13.9 Amendment of Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plans I and II, effective 

June 28, 1998, Restated and Amended effective March 22, 2011 

Employees who retire on or after June 21, 2015, shall be permitted, at their 
discretion, to enroll in non-City sponsored health plans. After Council approval of 
this Unrepresented Employee Manual, the City shall amend the Retiree Health 
Premium Assistance Plans I and II as soon as practicable to allow enrollment in 
non-City sponsored health plans. In the event a retiree elects to enroll in a non- 
City sponsored health plan, the City shall make medical insurance premium 
payments directly to the health insurance provider in an amount equal to what the 
City would contribute to the City sponsored health plan. Retiree shall be solely 
responsible for all aspects of the requirements to enroll in a non-City sponsored 
health plan and maintain eligibility for such a plan; the City’s sole obligation is to 
pay the medical insurance premium contribution required under this section, as 
directed by the retiree to a non-City sponsored health plan. The City shall not be 
responsible for any excess cost differentials associated with the direct payment of 
premiums to non-City sponsored plans. The City will only make payments through 
its third party administrator to provide medical insurance premium payments for an 
individual plan and will not make payments for a group plan. The retiree and/or 
surviving spouse or domestic partner that enroll in non-City sponsored health plans 
shall be solely responsible for paying the administrative set up fee, the monthly 
administrative fee, and/or any other fees established by the third party 
administrator, and said fees will be deducted directly from the retiree’s monthly 
contribution. No cash payments will be paid directly to the retiree or the retiree’s 
spouse/domestic partner. There shall be no cash in lieu payments made under 
this benefit. 

 
The City will also amend the Retiree Premium Assistance Plans I and II to allow 
eligible retirees who retired prior to June 21, 2015 to enroll in a non-City sponsored 
health plan. 

 
13.10 Retiree Medical for Unrepresented Benefitted Employees 

Effective June 28, 1998, the City will provide the retiree medical coverage set forth 
below for all unrepresented benefitted employees, except employees in the 
classifications of Police Chief, Fire Chief, and Deputy Fire Chief (see separate 
plans below). An employee’s entitlement to any and all benefits provided by the 
City under this retiree medical plan is subject to the funding limitations set forth in 
the plan document. 

 
13.10.1 Eligibility and Percentage of City Contribution: An employee is 

eligible for the retiree health insurance coverage as set forth in Sections 
13.10.3 (Pre Age 65 Retiree Health Insurance) and 13.10.4 (Retiree 



49 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Benefits for Employees Age 65 or Over) below if he or she meets all the 
following criteria: 

 
a. retires from career service on or after June 28, 1998; 
b. is vested with CalPERS; 
c. has at least eight (8) years of CalPERS qualifying service with the 

City; and 
d. is at least age 55. 

 
An “Eligible Retiree” also includes individuals who meet the definition as 
set forth in Section 2.11.1 of the Retiree Health Premium Assistance 
Plan I for Confidential and Executive Management Employees 
(Representation Unit Z-1; Z-5; Z-7; Z-9 and Elected Officials) Restated 
and Amended effective as of March 22, 2011 (Resolution No. 65,196- 
N.S.) for “Eligible Retiree.” 

 
Percentage of City Contribution: The actual monthly amount of 
money the City will contribute on the employee’s behalf will be based on 
the employee’s total years of CalPERS service as provided in the 
following chart: 

 

Years of CalPERS 
Qualifying Service 

Percentage of 
City Contribution 

8 30% 
9 40% 
10 50% 
11 58% 
12 66% 
13 74% 
14 82% 
15 90% 
16 92% 
17 94% 
18 96% 
19 98% 
20 100% 

 
13.10.2 Annual Increase: Retirees will pay the difference between the City’s 

monthly contribution and the actual monthly medical insurance premium 
charged by the health plan he or she has elected for retiree medical 
coverage. If the premiums for such health insurance are increased, the 
amount the City contributes shall increase no more than 4.5% above the 
previous year’s contribution. No increases in the amount the City 
contributes shall occur before July 1, 1999. Thereafter, any increase in 
the amount contributed by the City will occur on July 1 each year 
thereafter. 



50 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

13.10.3 Pre Age 65 Retiree Health Insurance: Beginning June 28, 1998, the 
City shall make available health insurance coverage to the employee 
and his or her spouse or domestic partner. The City will pay on the 
employee’s behalf no more than $166.26 per month for an employee 
electing single party health coverage and no more than $332.52 per 
month for an employee electing two party coverage. 

 
13.10.4 Retiree Benefits for Employees Age 65 and over: Once an employee 

or retiree reaches age 65, he or she is eligible for Medicare. As a result 
his or her eligibility for the retiree medical benefits set forth in Section 
13.10.1 (Eligibility) ceases. On reaching age 65, the City will make 
available health insurance coverage in addition to Medicare. When an 
employee or retiree reaches age 65, the City will contribute no more than 
$16.17 per month on the employee’s behalf for single party health 
insurance coverage and no more than $32.34 per month for two-party 
health coverage. 

 
13.10.5 Termination by City of Retiree Medical Benefit: Failure of the retiree 

or surviving spouse to pay their monthly share of the health insurance 
premium will result in termination of the retiree medical benefit and 
relieve the City of any further obligation to provide any further benefits 
under Section13.10 (Retiree Medical for Unrepresented Benefitted 
Employees). 

 
13.10.6 Retiree Medical Benefit for Employees Retiring between the Ages 

of 50 and 55: An employee who is at least 50 years of age, but less 
than 55, has at least eight (8) years of CalPERS qualifying employment 
with the City will retain eligibility for the retiree medical benefits provided 
in Section 13.10.1 (Eligibility) when the employee reaches age 55 if the 
employee is enrolled in a group health plan coverage from the date of 
his or her termination from City employment until the employee’s 55th 
birthday. If for any reason the employee has a lapse in group health 
care coverage the employee forfeits his or her eligibility for the retiree 
health plan benefits upon reaching age 55 and the City has no further 
obligation to provide any benefits under this Section to the employee 
and/or his spouse or domestic partner. 

 
13.10.7 Employees Retiring with a CalPERS Approved Disability 

Retirement: If an employee retires from the City before age 55 with a 
CalPERS approved disability retirement, the employee will retain 
eligibility for the retiree medical benefits provided in Section 13.10.1 
(Eligibility) when the employee reaches age 55 if the employee is 
enrolled in a group health plan coverage from the date of his or her 
termination from City employment until the employee’s 55th birthday. If 
for any reason the employee has a lapse in health care coverage the 
employee forfeits his or her eligibility for the retiree health plan benefits 
upon reaching age 55 and the City has no further obligation to provide 



51 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

any benefits under this Section to the employee and/or his spouse or 
domestic partner. 

 
13.10.8 City Funding of Retiree Health Benefit: City contributions to the 

retiree medical benefit began on July 1, 1998. Funding of this benefit 
has been set aside in a trust to be established by the City. 

 
The retiree medical benefit will be funded by a charge of 0.25% of payroll 
in each year, so that contributions are at 1% of the payroll after four 
years. The City will fund the benefit at approximately 1% of the payroll 
for every year thereafter with the intent of achieving a funding level of 
70% after 30 years. The funding will be ongoing to maintain a 70% 
funding level thereafter. 

 
Effective July 4, 2004, an additional charge of 0.25% of payroll was 
charged each year in the subsequent four years so that contributions are 
at 2% by July 1, 2007. The purpose of this 1% increase in payroll 
contribution is to fund post age 65 Medicare supplement plans. As a 
result of this change, the amount the City contributes toward the post- 
65 Medicare Supplement coverage under the Retiree Health Premium 
Assistance Plan was $102 effective July 7, 2002 for all post 65 retirees 
as well as future retirees. 

 
13.10.9 Retiree Medical Plan for Unrepresented Employees (Rep Units Z-2, 

Z-3, Z-6): Eligible retirees who retired from positions in Representation 
Units Z-2, Z-3 and Z-6 on or after July 1, 2008. 

 
Not Medicare Eligible: Effective July 1, 2008, between the ages of 55 
and 65 who retire on or after June 29, 2008 the amount the City 
contributes toward payment of the health care premium cost for the 
Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plan will increase by $50 per month 
in addition to the 4.5% that occurs on July 1 as provided in Section 
13.10.2 (Annual Increase). Effective July 1, 2009, the amount the City 
contributes toward payment of the health care premium cost for the 
Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plan will increase by an additional 
$25 per month (i.e., an aggregate $75 per month increase) in addition to 
the 4.5% that occurs on July 1 as provided in Section 13.10.2 (Annual 
Increase). Effective July 1, 2011, the amount the City contributes toward 
payment of the health care premium cost for the Retiree Health Premium 
Assistance Plan will increase by an additional $25 per month (i.e., an 
aggregate $100 per month increase) in addition to the 4.5% that occurs 
on July 1 as provided in Section 13.10.2 (Annual Increase). 

 
13.10.10 Retiree Medical Plan for Confidential and Executive Management 

Employees (Rep Unit Z-1; Z-5; Z-7; Z-9; and Elected Officials): Eligible 
retirees who retired from positions in Representation Unit Z-1 on or after 
July 1, 2008. 



52 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

Medicare and Not Medicare Eligible: Effective June 29, 2008, an 
additional charge of 0.50% of payroll will be charged so that 
contributions are at 2.5%. The purpose of this 0.50% increase in payroll 
contribution is to fund both pre-65 retiree health care premium costs and 
post age 65 Medicare Supplement plans for eligible retiree who retired 
from positions in Representation Unit Z-1; Z-5; Z-7; Z-9 and Elected 
Officials on or after July 1, 2008. As a result of this change, the amount 
the City contributes toward pre age 65 health insurance premium costs 
shall increase from $258.19 per month to $309.39 per month for single 
coverage and from $516.38 per month to $618.78 per month for 2-party 
coverage. The City’s contribution toward the post-65 Medicare 
Supplement coverage shall increase from $132.83 per month to $184.03 
per month for single coverage and from $265.67 per month to $368.06 
per month for 2-party coverage. 

 
13.11 Reimbursement Plan 

After Council approval of this Unrepresented Employee Manual, the City shall 
amend the Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plans I and II as soon as 
practicable to allow for the reimbursement of Medical Insurance Premiums for the 
retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner until the death of both. If there is 
no spouse or domestic partner at the time of retirement, the City shall only 
reimburse the single party rate. The reimbursement shall be paid directly to the 
retiree or surviving spouse or domestic partner. The maximum amount the City 
will reimburse for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums is based on the 
schedule described in Section 13.10.1 (Eligibility and Percentage of City 
Contribution) above. 

 
13.11.1 Retiree Medical Reimbursement Plan for Unrepresented 

Confidential and Executive Management Employees (Rep Units Z- 
1; Z-5; Z-7; Z-9; and Elected Officials) Who Retire on or After June 
28, 1998 through June 30, 2008 

 
13.11.1.1 Not Medicare Eligible: For retirees who are not eligible for 

Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner until the death of both as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of June 28, 1998: Effective June 

28, 1998, as provided in Section 13.10.2 (Annual 
Increase), each month after the employee retires, the 
City’s maximum reimbursement for the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums total $166.26 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $332.52 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 



53 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

b. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 
January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Annual Increase), total $338.60 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $677.19 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.1.2 Medicare Eligible: For retirees who reach age 65 and are 

eligible for Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of 
Medical Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of June 28, 1998: Effective June 

28, 1998, as provided in Section 13.10.4 (Retiree 
Benefits for Employees Age 65 and Over) each month 
after the retiree reaches age 65 and is eligible for 
Medicare, the City’s maximum reimbursement for the 
cost of Medical Insurance Premiums total $16.17 for 
single party coverage for the retiree or $32.34 for two 
party coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of July 7, 2002: Effective July 7, 

2002, as provided in Section 13.10.8 (City Funding of 
Health Benefits) each month after the retiree reaches 
age 65 and is eligible for Medicare, the City’s maximum 
reimbursement for the cost of Medical Insurance 
Premiums total $102.00 for single party coverage for 
the retiree or $204.00 for two party coverage for the 
retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner 
coverage. 

 
c. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $172.98 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $345.96 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.2 Retiree Medical Reimbursement Plan for Unrepresented 

Confidential and Executive Management Employees (Rep Units Z- 
1; Z-5; Z-7; Z9 and Elected Officials) Who Retire on or After July 1, 
2008 



54 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

13.11.2.1 Not Medicare Eligible: For retirees who are not eligible for 
Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2008: On July 1, 2008, 

as provided in Section 13.10.10 (Retiree Medical Plan 
for Unrepresented Confidential and Executive 
Management Employees), the City will reimburse the 
cost of Medical Insurance Premiums in an amount 
totaling $309.39 for single party coverage for the retiree 
or $618.78 for two party coverage for the retiree and/or 
surviving spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $405.73 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $811.46 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.2.2 Medicare Eligible: For retirees who reach age 65 and are 

eligible for Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of 
Medical Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2008: Effective July 1, 

2008, as provided in Section 13.10.10 (Retiree Medical 
Plan for Unrepresented Confidential and Executive 
Management Employees), each month after the retiree 
reaches age 65 and is eligible for Medicare, the City’s 
maximum reimbursement for the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums total $184.03 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $368.06 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $239.65 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $479.31 for two party 



55 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.3 Retiree Medical Reimbursement Plan for Unrepresented 

Employees (Rep Units Z-2; Z-3; Z-6) Who Retire on or After June 
28, 1998 through June 30, 2008 

 
13.11.3.1 Not Medicare Eligible: For retirees who are not eligible for 

Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of June 28, 1998: Effective June 

28, 1998, as provided in Section 13.10.2 (Annual 
Increase), each month after the employee retires, the 
City’s maximum reimbursement for the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums total $166.26 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $332.52 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Annual Increase), total $338.60 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $677.19 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.3.2 Medicare Eligible: For retirees who reach age 65 and are 

eligible for Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of 
Medical Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of June 28, 1998: Effective June 

28, 1998, as provided in Section 13.10.4 (Retiree 
Benefits for Employees Age 65 and Over) each month 
after the retiree reaches age 65 and is eligible for 
Medicare, the City’s maximum reimbursement for the 
cost of Medical Insurance Premiums total $16.17 for 
single party coverage for the retiree or $32.34 for two 
party coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of July 7, 2002: Effective July 7, 

2002, as provided in Section 13.10.8 (City Funding of 



56 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Health Benefits) each month after the retiree reaches 
age 65 and is eligible for Medicare, the City’s maximum 
reimbursement for the cost of Medical Insurance 
Premiums total $102.00 for single party coverage for 
the retiree or $204.00 for two party coverage for the 
retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner 
coverage. 

 
c. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $180.76 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $361.53 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.4 Retiree Medical Reimbursement Plan for Unrepresented 

Employees (Rep Units Z-2; Z-3; and Z-6) Who Retire on or After 
June 29, 2008 

 
13.11.4.1 Not Medicare Eligible: For retirees who are not eligible for 

Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of Medical 
Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2008: On July 1, 2008, 

as provided in Section 13.10.9 (Retiree Medical Plan 
for Unrepresented Employees), the City will reimburse 
the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums in an amount 
totaling $297.08 for single party coverage for the retiree 
or $544.16 for two party coverage for the retiree and/or 
surviving spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2009: As of July 1, 

2009, the City’s maximum reimbursement for the cost 
of Medical Insurance Premiums, which were increased 
in accordance with Section 13.10.9 (Retiree Medical 
Plan for Unrepresented Employees), total $335.45 for 
single party coverage for the retiree or $593.64 for two 
party coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
c. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2011: As of July 1, 

2011, the City’s maximum reimbursement for the cost 
of Medical Insurance Premiums, which were increased 
in accordance with Section 13.10.9 (Retiree Medical 



57 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

Plan for Unrepresented Employees), total $391.32 for 
single party coverage for the retiree or $673.27 for two 
party coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
d. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $469.92 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $808.52 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
3.11.4.2 Medicare Eligible: For retirees who reach age 65 and are 

eligible for Medicare, the City will reimburse the cost of 
Medical Insurance Premiums for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner as follows: 

 
a. Reimbursement as of July 1, 2008: As of July 1, 

2008, the City’s maximum reimbursement for the cost 
of Medical Insurance Premiums, which were increased 
in accordance with Section 13.10.2 (Maximum 
Increase), total $138.81 for single party coverage for 
the retiree or $277.62 for two party coverage for the 
retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner 
coverage. 

 
b. Reimbursement as of January 1, 2017: As of 

January 1, 2017, the City’s maximum reimbursement 
for the cost of Medical Insurance Premiums, which 
were increased in accordance with Section 13.10.2 
(Maximum Increase), total $172.98 for single party 
coverage for the retiree or $345.96 for two party 
coverage for the retiree and/or surviving 
spouse/domestic partner coverage. 

 
13.11.5 Enrollment in City Group Plans 

Retiring employees may receive continuing health coverage in City 
sponsored group health plans subject to the limitations and co-pay 
amounts permitted by the health care providers. 

 
13.12 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Retiree Medical Plan 

Internal City of Berkeley candidates who promote and are appointed to the Fire 
Chief or Deputy Fire Chief classification, without a break in service, shall be eligible 
for the same Retiree Medical Plan as provided to sworn fire employees in 
Representation Unit B. 



58 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

13.12.1 Retiree Medical Benefits for External Appointments: External City of 
Berkeley candidates appointed to the Fire Chief or Deputy Fire Chief 
classifications shall be covered by the Retiree Health Premium 
Assistance Plan described herein at Section 13.10 (Retiree medical 
Plan) et seq., except that the employee shall not be required to meet the 
eligibility requirements of sub-Sections 13.10.1(b) and 13.10.1(c) and 
instead credited with 15 years of qualifying years of service for eligibility 
in the Plan and shall receive benefits as a Representation Unit Z-1 
employee. 

 
13.13 Retiree Medical for Police Chief Classification 

Internal City of Berkeley candidates who promote and are appointed to the Police 
Chief classification, without a break in service, shall be eligible for the same Retiree 
Medical Plan as provided to sworn police employees in Representation Units E 
and F. 

 
13.13.1 Retiree Medical Benefits for External Appointments: External City of 

Berkeley candidates appointed to the Police Chief classification shall be 
covered by the Retiree Health Premium Assistance Plan described 
herein at Section 13.10 (Retiree medical Plan) et seq., except that the 
employee shall not be required to meet the eligibility requirements of 
sub-Sections 13.10.1(b) and 13.10.1(c) and instead credited with 15 
years of qualifying years of service for eligibility in the Plan and shall 
receive benefits as a Representation Unit Z-1 employee. 

 
13.14 Partially Subsidized YMCA Membership 

The City currently provides a partially subsidized membership in the Berkeley 
YMCA for those employees who agree to pay the required monthly fee. Use of a 
YMCA membership by a City of Berkeley employee, as provided by this provision, 
is not part of the employee's work related duties, is not required for continued 
employment and is not considered part of a City sponsored physical fitness 
program. The City of Berkeley nor its Claims Administrator shall not be liable for 
any injury that may arise out of a City of Berkeley employee's participation in and 
use of a YMCA membership. The amount the City contributes toward the 
employee’s monthly membership fee is subject to federal and state income tax 
withholding. 

 
13.15 Part-Time Employees Eligible for Full Benefits 

Those part time employees who have been continuously employed by the City in 
benefitted part time career positions since prior to July 1, 1977 and who have not 
accepted a full time career position are eligible to participate in the City's health 
and dental insurance programs with the City's payment of premiums at the same 
level as for full time benefitted employees. 



59 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

13.16 Probationary Periods for Unrepresented Classifications 

The competitive appointment to a career classification will include a probationary 
period during which time the incumbent may be dismissed without right of appeal. 
The probationary period for unrepresented classifications varies from six (6) 
months of actual work hours (1040 hours for full time employees and 520 hours for 
half time) to one year of actual work hours (2080 hours for full time and 1040 hours 
for half time). 

 
Presently, unrepresented classifications require a six (6) month probationary 
period except for the following unrepresented classifications which require a one 
year probationary period: 

 
(a) All classifications in Unit Z-1 in the career service; and 
(b) All classifications in Unit Z-2 in the career service. 

 
13.17 Public Safety Uniform Allowance 

 
(a) Fire Uniform Allowance: Effective November 9, 2004, $1,000 annual 

allowance. Effective December 1, 2015, $1,100 annual allowance. 
(b) Police Uniform Allowance: Effective July 7, 2002, $1,000 annual allowance. 
(c) To comply with CALPERS requirement, Union allowance payments shall be 

paid over twenty-six (26) equal biweekly installments instead of twice a year 
payment. 

 
13.18 Regular “At-Will” Classifications 

The following classifications are exempt from the career service and in accordance 
with the Personnel Ordinance (Berkeley Municipal Code Section 4.04.120), At-Will 
appointments are eligible to receive benefits: 

 
 All department heads 
 Assistant City Manager 
 Assistant to the City Manager 
 Assistant to the Mayor 
 Assistant, Associate and Senior Management Analyst in the City Manager's 

Department and in the Office of Budget and Fiscal Management 
 Budget Manager 
 Capital Improvement Programs Manager 
 Deputy City Manager 
 Economic Development Manager 
 Health Officer 
 Legislative Assistant 
 Police Review Commission Investigator 
 Police Review Commission Officer 
 Secretary to the Mayor, Administrative Secretary and Secretary in the Mayor's Office 
 Supervising Psychiatrist 



60 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

13.19 City Manager Department Differential 

Assistant, Associate, and Senior Management Analysts, and Accounting Office 
Specialists III in the City Manager's Department and in the Office of Budget and 
Fiscal Management shall receive a 5% salary differential. 

 
13.20 Shift Differential 

Employees whose regular schedules meet the definition, as specified by 
Unrepresented Employee Manual Section 1.12 (Shift Differential), for shift 
differential, for the hours of 5:00 p.m. to 12:00 a.m., shall be paid their regular 
salary plus seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of their monthly salary per month. 
Those whose regular schedule meets the definition for shift differential, for the 
hours of 12:00 a.m. to 7:00 a.m., shall be paid their regular monthly salary plus ten 
percent (10%) of their monthly salary per month. 

 
13.21 SRIP II Disability Insurance 

The City shall pay the premium for the current cost of long term disability insurance 
for SRIP covered employees who are enrolled in the SRIP II (Supplementary 
Retirement and Income Plan). 

 
13.22 Vacation Schedules 

Unrepresented employees, except those confidential executive, management and 
professional employees in Section 13.20.1 (Confidential Executive Management 
and Professional Employees) below, shall be entitled to earn annual vacation leave 
as follows: 

 
Authorized Annual Vacation 
(in work weeks) 

Years of Actual Benefitted Service 

2-workweeks (FTE 80 hours) During the first 3-years 
3-workweeks (FTE 120 hours) During the 4th through 11th year 
4-workweeks (FTE 160 hours) During the 12th through 17th year 
5-workweeks (FTE 200 hours) During the 18th through 24th year 
6 workweeks (FTE 240 hours) During the 25th and subsequent years 

 
13.22.1 Confidential Executive, Management and Professional Employees: 

Confidential executive, management and professional employees who 
were eligible under the City's Administrative Leave Policy are entitled to 
earn annual vacation leave as follows: 

 
Authorized Annual Vacation 
(in work weeks) 

Years of Actual Benefitted Service 

2-workeeks (FTE 80 hours) During the first 2-years 
3-workweeks (FTE 120 hours) During the 3rd through 5th year 
4-workweeks (FTE 160 hours) During the 6th through 17th year 
5-workweeks (FTE 200 hours) During the 18th through 24th year 



61 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

6 workweeks (FTE 240 hours) During the 25th and subsequent 
years 

 

13.22.2 Director of Library Services and Deputy Director of Library 
Services: Employees in the classifications of Director of Library 
Services and Deputy Director of Library Services are entitled to earn 
annual vacation Leave as follows: 

 

Years of Actual Benefited Service 
Authorized Annual 
Vacation Accrual 

Through the first 5 Years of Service 3 weeks (120 Hours) 
Beginning the 6th through 17th Years of 
Service 4 weeks (160 Hours) 

Beginning the 18th through 24th Years of 
Service 

5 weeks (200 Hours) 

Beginning the 25th and subsequent Years 
of Service 

6 weeks (240 Hours) 

 
13.23 Special Pay for Camps Personnel 

When an employee, who has a valid Red Cross Senior Lifesaving Certificate and 
occupies a camps classification, is specifically assigned in writing by the Camps 
Manager or an authorized representative, with approval by the City Manager, to 
temporarily serve as a lifeguard for one day or more, said employee shall be paid 
a five percent (5%) differential, more than the employee's current salary. 

 
13.24 Hazard Premium Pay for Clerical Mental Health Personnel 

Clerical employees who are regularly assigned to work in Mental Health Programs, 
in direct contact with clinic patients, shall receive a five percent (5%) differential. 
This Hazard Premium Pay shall be reported to CalPERS as “Hazard Premium” 
under PERL Section 571 (Definition of Special Compensation), (4) Special 
Assignment Pay. 

 
13.25 Longevity Pay 

Effective the first full pay period after Council adoption, employees in 
Representation Units Z-2, Z-3 and Z-6 who complete nineteen (19) years of service 
shall receive a three percent (3%) differential beginning with the anniversary date 
of beginning the twentieth (20th) year of service and shall apply to all hours in a 
paid status. Longevity pay shall be paid at the beginning of the pay period following 
completion of the 20 years of service. This Longevity Pay shall be reported to 
CalPERS as “Longevity Pay” under PERL Section 571.a.(1) Incentive Pay. 

 
13.26 Longevity Pay for Confidential and Executive Management Employees 

Effective the first full pay period after Council adoption, and except as noted below 
in Section 13.24.1 (Longevity Pay for Unit Z1 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief), 
employees in Representation Unit Z-1 who have completed nineteen (19) years of 
service shall receive a three percent (3%) differential beginning with the 



62 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

anniversary date of beginning the twentieth (20th) year of service and shall apply 
to all hours in a paid status. This Longevity Pay shall be reported to CalPERS as 
Longevity Pay Incentive Pay. 

 
13.26.1 Longevity Pay for Unit Z1 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief: The 

longevity pay for the Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief classifications is 
intended to provide the same benefits as the Longevity Pay for 
represented sworn fire employees under the Berkeley Fire Fighters 
Association (Unit B) Memorandum of Understanding. 

13.26.113.26.2 Longevity Pay for Unit Z1 Police Chief and Deputy Police 
Chief: The longevity pay for the Police Chief and Deputy Police Chief 
classifications will provide the same benefits as the Longevity Pay for 
represented sworn police employees under the Berkeley Police 
Association (Units E & F) Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
13.27 Automobile Allowance for Police Chief 

The City Manager may authorize an automobile allowance of $400 per month in 
lieu of a City provided vehicle for an employee appointed after November 1, 2009 
to the classification of Police Chief. 

 
13.28 Video Display Terminal Screening/Glasses 

The City offers VDT screening and glasses as medically required, every two years, 
to employees who in the course of their employment operate VDT equipment more 
than four hours in a work day. 

 
13.29 Emergency Medical Technician 

Effective September 13, 2015, Unit Z-1 Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief who 
maintain current Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) certification shall receive 
thean same EMT pay differential as sworn fire of four percent (4.0%).employees 
under the Berkeley Fire Fighters Association (Unit B) Memorandum of 
Understanding. 

 
13.30 Shoe Allowance 

An annual allowance of two hundred dollars ($200) shall be paid to benefitted 
employees in the classification of Janitor, Groundskeeper, Laborer, and Solid 
Waste Worker. 

 
13.31 Training Differential 

 
13.31.1 Trainer Differential: Effective July 1, 2016, any employee, excluding 

those classifications that require training as part of the assignment (e.g. 
supervisors), designated by the department and approved by the 
Director of Human Resources as qualified trainers or instructors for 
specific specialized skills (identified by the departments in consultation 
with Human Resources) who is required to provide formalized training 
to a new employee or an employee who management has identified as 
needing formalized training, shall receive a five percent (5%) differential 
in salary for that time served in such capacity. Such assignment shall 



63 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

be in writing by the department and approved by the Director of Human 
Resources. This Training Differential will be reported to CalPERS as 
Training Premium Special Assignment Pay. However, any hours worked  
on  overtime  are  excluded  from  CalPERS  reported 



64 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

“compensation earnable” in California Government Code Section 
20635. 

 
13.31.2 Higher Class Training Differential: For training purposes, employees 

not meeting all of the minimum qualifications of a higher classification 
may be temporarily assigned for a minimum of one (1) week, to perform 
the duties of the higher classification and will receive a five percent (5%) 
increase in their current base salary for the duration of the temporary 
assignment. Such assignments shall be in writing and shall indicate the 
reasons, length and duties of the assignment. Assignments shall be 
approved in advance by the City Manager, or his or her designee by an 
Employee Transaction Form, and forwarded to the Human Resources 
Department for inclusion in the employee's official Personnel file. 

 
13.31.3 Trainee Differential: For training purposes and to enhance an 

employee skills and abilities, any employee designated in advance by 
the department director and approved by the Director of Human 
Resources to perform duties that are outside of the employee’s 
classification, shall receive a three percent (3%) differential in salary for 
that time served in such capacity. Such assignments shall be in writing 
and shall indicate the reasons, length and duties of the assignment. 
Assignments shall be approved in advance by the City Manager, or his 
or her designee by an Employee Transaction Form, and forwarded to 
the Human Resources Department for inclusion in the employee's 
official Personnel file. 

 
 
 

13.32 Summary of May 2017 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 

 Included reference to Unrepresented Unit Z-9 (Deputy Director Rent Stabilization 
Program). 

 Former Section 1.14 (One-Time Allocation) - deleted obsolete provision. 
 Section 5.2 (Floating Holidays) - corrected omission of one (1) day. 
 Section 8.3 (Hourly Rated Employees in Lieu of Benefits) – codified existing 

benefit. 

 Section 13.11 (Reimbursement Plan) – revise plan as reimbursement. 
 Section 13.12 (Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief Retiree Medical Plan) – clarified 

benefit for internal and external appointments. 

 Section 13.13 (Retiree medical for Police Chief Classification) – clarified benefit 
for internal and external appointments. 

 Section 13.18 (Regular “At-Will” Classifications) – deleted duplicate classification. 
 Section 13.31.3 (Trainee Differential) – included provision authorizing differential 

for employees assigned duties outside of classification. 



65 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 
 

 

13.33 Summary of October 2017 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 

 
 Section 8.4.5 Miscellaneous Employees Classic Employee Pension Contribution 

through a 20516 Contract Amendment – added subsection 8.4.5.3 
 
 

13.34 Summary of July 2018 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 

 Section 1.14 (One-Time Allocation) - $2,000 paid August 17, 2018. 
 Section 8.1.3 (Medical Contribution Executive Managers) – Cost-share of $50.00 

for medical contributions by all department heads, City Manager and Deputy City 
Manager effective July 1, 2019. 

 Section 8.4.6.4 – Correct typographical error. 

 Section 11.5 (Written Reprimand for Non-Safety Employees) – Include provision 
allowing written rebuttal. 

 Section 12.3.1 (Compensation Complaints) – Include provision that specifies 
appeal time lines. 

 13.1 (Administrative Leave) – Clarify leave extended to career and benefitted at- 
will employees; benefit is prorated based on assignment; and codifies practice 
that unused administrative leave rolls into vacation. 

 13.24 (Hazard Premium Pay for Clerical Mental Health Personnel) – Clarify pay 
is reportable to CalPERS. 

 13.25 (Longevity Pay) – Include CalPERS reportable section. 
 13.30 (Shoe Allowance) – Clarify benefit extended to benefitted employees. 
 Shoe Allowance 
 13.31 Training Differential 
 13.32 Summary of July 2018 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 13.33 Summary of October 2017 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee 

Manual 
 
 

13.35 Summary of July 2020 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual 
 

Section Change 
Term Duration Parties agree to a one-year term Agreement ending on June 

30, 2021 
Living Wage – NEW LANGUAGE: The City agrees to pay each of its direct 

employees an hourly wage of no less than $18.33 
effective the first full pay period in January 2021. The 
City agrees to pay each of its direct employees an 
hourly wage of no less than $19.33 effective the first 



66 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

Section Change 
 full pay period in June 2021. If the Living Wage 

increases beyond $19.33, as outlined in the Berkeley 
Municipal Code effective July 2021, the City shall 
implement the increases the first full pay period in 
September 2021 and July 1st of each year thereafter. 

Additional City Emergency 
Paid Sick Leave 
Allocation 

NEW LANGUAGE: The City shall provide an additional 80 
hours of emergency paid sick leave to be used for 
COVID-19 related reasons as listed in the Emergency 
Paid Sick Leave Act. Part-time employees receive a 
prorated number of hours. In order to use this 
additional City emergency paid sick leave, the 
employee must first exhaust all hours that they 
received under the Emergency Paid Sick Leave Act. 
The City will use a specific pay code for this additional 
emergency paid sick leave and these additional hours 
will be available until June 30, 2021. These additional 
80 emergency paid sick leave hours shall have no 
cash value and may not be used towards any 
CalPERS retirement service credit as outlined 4.13 of 
the Unrepresented Employees Manual. 

Additional Floating 
Holidays 

NEW LANGUAGE: For employees who were required to 
remain in the workplace from March 17, 2020 – June 
1, 2020, the City will provide 8 hours of floating 
holidays for every 40 hours of regularly scheduled 
hours worked in the workplace up to a maximum of 32 
hours of floating holiday. The City will credit these 
floating holiday hours in the first full pay period after 
adoption of the Agreement for classifications which, 
due to the nature of the assignment, require backfill, 
employees will be paid a stipend in the amount of the 
earned floating holiday hours up to a maximum of 32 
hours the first full pay period in August 2020. The City 
will use a specific pay code for these additional 
floating holiday hours will be available until June 30, 
2021. These additional 32 hours of floating holiday 
shall have no cash value and may not be used 
towards CalPERS retirement service credit as 
outlined  4.13  of  the  Unrepresented  Employees 
Manual. 

Additional language on 
Layoffs for the Term 
of the Agreement 

NEW LANGUAGE: The City recognizes the important role 
that the employee workforce plays in delivering public 
services; therefore, during the period ending June 30, 
2021 the City agrees to not layoff any Unrepresented 
career employees. However, should the City 
determine that its expenditures exceed its revenues 
during the period ending June 24, 2021, the City may 



67 

City of Berkeley Unrepresented Employee Manual 
July 2021 

Internal 

 

 

Section Change 
 notice the Unrepresented group in writing and the 

Unrepresented group shall be provided an opportunity 
to meet and discuss one-time cost savings and 
alternatives such as furloughs, VTO, etc. Nothing in 
this section requires the City to retain positions (filled 
or vacant) where state, federal or grant funding has 
been reduced or eliminated and would require the City 
to backfill such positions. All other provisions on 
Layoffs remain unchanged. 

Provisional Employee No employees shall hold a provisional appointment in the 
same position for more than 12 months. The City 
Manager may extend the provisional appointment 
beyond this 12- month limitation with the mutual 
agreement of the parties. 

Limited Reopener If during the fiscal year 2020 -2021 the City reaches 
agreement with SEIU or extends to other 
unrepresented employees an opportunity to confer on 
an across the board Cost of Living Adjustment 
(COLA) increase and/or an additional City 
contribution towards medical premiums, the City 
agrees to a limited reopener to meet and discuss with 
the Unrepresented group on these increases. 

 

13.36 Summary of July 2023 Changes to the Unrepresented Employee Manual  

 Add second sentence to section 1.6. 

 Add sections 3.3.6, 3.3.7, 3.3.8, and 13.26.2. 

 Add “group” to section 13.4. 

 Add “Accounting Office Specialists III” to section 13.19. 

 Revise section 13.29. 



JUNE 30, 2023

THE BI-WEEKLY HR NEWSLETTER FOR THE CITY OF BERKELEY

What's New

RECRUITMENTS - 
PAGE 3

PEPRA RATE INCREASE
- PAGE 9

CITYWIDE TRAININGS -
PAGE 10

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 1

NeoGov Login Issues
 

If you are experiencing issues logging into
NeoGov, please use the earlier configuration of
your City email address -- @cityofberkeley.info –
to log in.

If you have forgotten your password, you can
reset it on the NeoGov website by using the
same email address formulation.



HR CONTACTS JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 2

HR ADMINISTRATION

ARAM KOUYOUMDJIAN, HR DIRECTOR

JESSICA LEWIS (ADMIN SUPPORT)
JELEWIS@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6824

DAWUD BREWER, EMPLOYEE RELATIONS MANAGER
DBREWER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6821

MONICA WALKER, HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER
MWALKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6818

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
LRCC

DAWUD BREWER (EMPLOYEE RELATIONS)
DBREWER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6821

KISMET TENG
KTENG@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6804

BENEFITS

SOPHEA SHEPHARD
SSHEPHARD@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6815

VELMA WALLACE
VWALLACE@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6808

RECRUITMENTS
EXAMS/TESTS

JENEEN MILLER-EDENBURG
JEMILLER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6817

RIO TESS MUSNI
RMUSNI@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6805

ANNA GOOLER
AGOOLER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6820

MICHELLE YOO
MYOO@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6802

SAFETY
ERGONOMICS
CAL/OSHA

KEVIN WALKER
KWALKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6825

TRISA "VENUS" THOMAS
VTHOMAS@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6819

CITYWIDE TRAINING

WILHELMINA PARKER
WPARKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6823

ALEJANDRA ALONSO
AALONSO@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6801

WORKERS' COMP
ADA
LEAVES

WORKERS' COMP (SUBMIT CLAIMS)
HRWORKERSCOMP@BERKELEYCA.GOV

CARI MCDONALD
CMCDONALD@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6816

EEO MATTERS

TAMELA HOPSON-DUDLEY
THOPSON-DUDLEY@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6811

TRANSACTIONS

TIANA DICKSON
TDICKSON@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6814

CASANDRA HUFF
CHUFF@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6894

FEUY SAEPHAN
FSAEPHAN@BERKELEYCA.GOV
510-981-6822



RECRUITMENTS JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 3

Recruitment Reason Type Hourly Rate Opening Date Closing Date

Accounting Office Specialist II Vacancy Competitive $32.80 to $35.72 March 12, 2023 Continuous

Accounting Office Specialist III
(Req#2023-01158)

Vacancy Promotional $37.99 to $41.41 February 21, 2023 Continuous

Accounting Technician Vacancy Promotional $37.38 to $45.00 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Assistant Civil Engineer Vacancy Competitive $54.86 to $66.35 November 11, 2022 Continuous

Assistant Public Works Engineer Vacancy Competitive $52.49 to $63.22 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Assistant Recreation Coordinator Vacancy Competitive $31.83 to $37.01 Continuous Continuous

Assistant to the City Attorney
(Req#2023-01100)

Vacancy Competitive $66.33 to $87.16 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Associate Civil Engineer Vacancy Competitive $60.43 to $73.02 November 11, 2022 Continuous

Behavioral Health Clinician I/II Vacancy Competitive $41.55 to $53.45 Continuous Continuous

Building Inspector I/II (Certified) Vacancy Competitive
I: $46.09 to $54.68
II: $49.40 to $58.60

April 3, 2023 Continuous

Community Development Project
Coordinator

(Req#2022-00756E)
Promotion Competitive $50.42 to $60.96 August 1, 2022 Continuous

Crime Analyst
(Req#2023-01341)

Vacancy Competitive $47.91 to $56.89 June 26, 2023 July 17, 2023

Deputy City Attorney II/III Vacancy Competitive $67.50 to $95.43 Continuous Continuous

Electrician
(Req#2020-00113E, 2021-00095E,

2021-00353E)
Vacancy Competitive $48.29 to $52.92 Continuous Continuous

Epidemiologist Vacancy Competitive $41.70 to $50.69 Continuous Continuous

Fire Apparatus Operator
(Req#2021-00118E)

Vacancy Promotional $41.04 to $45.24 June 19, 2023 July 3, 2023

Fire Prevention Inspector (Sworn)
To

Establish a
List

Competitive $60.13 to $66.29 Continuous Continuous

Firefighter Paramedic Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $41.96 Continuous Continuous

Firefighter Paramedic Lateral Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $41.96 Continuous Continuous

Health Officer (Certified)
(Req#2023-01305)

Vacancy Competitive $130.56 to $148.31 June 12, 2023 July 3, 2023

Housing Inspector I (Certified)
(Req#2023-01138)

Vacancy Competitive $41.48 to $49.21 March 20, 2023 Continuous

For more information about what to expect during the hiring process and to apply online: 

*Applications must be submitted no later than 5pm on the closing date.

CLICK
HERE

https://berkeleyca.gov/your-government/jobs


RECRUITMENTS JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 4

Recruitment Reason Type Hourly Rate Opening Date Closing Date

Junior Public Works Engineer Vacancy Competitive $44.20 to $53.24 April 24, 2023 Continuous

Library Assistant
(Req#2023-01192, 2023-01193)

Vacancy Competitive $27.68 to $32.90 June 26, 2023 July 14, 2023

Marina Assistant Promotion Competitive $32.96 to $34.94 Continuous Continuous

Mechanic Vacancy Competitive $44.60 to $47.28 Continuous Continuous

Medical Director Vacancy Competitive $90.41 to $102.71 February 13, 2023 Continuous

Mental Health Clinical Supervisor Vacancy Competitive $50.56 to $62.08 July 4, 2022 Continuous

Mental Health Nurse
(Req#2021-00263E, 2022-00798E,

2023-01103)
Vacancy Competitive $57.22 to $69.55 July 20, 2020 Continuous

Mid-Level Practitioner Vacancy Competitive $58.04 to $64.35 Continuous Continuous

Office Specialist III Vacancy Promotional
$37.29 to $40.72
$36.84 to $40.49

Continuous Continuous

Paramedic Vacancy Competitive $30.00 to $45.00 Continuous Continuous

Police Officer Lateral Vacancy Competitive $52.76 to $65.67 Continuous Continuous

Police Officer Recruit Resignation Competitive $43.18 June 20, 2022 Continuous

Psychiatrist Vacancy Competitive $90.52 to $133.73 Continuous Continuous

Public Health Nurse Vacancy Competitive $53.36 to $62.24 Continuous Continuous

Public Safety Dispatcher I
(Req#2021-00280E, 2021-00251E)

Vacancy Competitive $32.18 to $35.17 April 25, 2022 Continuous

Public Safety Dispatcher II Vacancy Competitive $45.98 to $49.90 Continuous Continuous

Registered Nurse Vacancy Competitive $51.68 to $57.28 Continuous Continuous

Retired Annuitant Vacancy Competitive $18.33 to $137.21 May 22, 2023 Continuous

Revenue Development Specialist
I/II

(Req#2022-00891E, 2022-00890E,
2022-00889E, 2022-00888E)

Vacancy Competitive $48.42 to $57.49 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Revenue Development Supervisor
(Req#2021-00085E)

Resignation Competitive $51.63 to $62.41 December 19, 2022 Continuous

Senior Behavioral Health Clinician Promotion Competitive $49.95 to $58.31 September 26, 2022 Continuous

Senior Information Systems
Specialist

(Req#2022-00543E)
Retirement Competitive $48.56 to $57.87 Continuous Continuous

Senior Management Analyst Vacancy Competitive $53.26 to $64.40 Continuous Continuous

Senior Systems Analyst
(Req#2022-00995, 2022-00996)

Vacancy
Retirement

Competitive $57.98 to $70.62 December 27, 2022 Continuous

Skilled Laborer
(Req#2022-00895E, 2022-00899E,

2023-01056, 2023-01057, 2023-
01058)

Vacancy Promotional $34.82 to $37.02 June 19, 2023 July 3, 2023

Supervising Public Health Nurse Vacancy Competitive $62.73 to $73.65 Continuous Continuous



VACANCIES JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 5

Classification Reason Department Contact

Accounting Office Specialist III
(Req#2023-01346)

Retirement Rent Board
Shamika Cole @ 981-4903

Sscole@berkeleyca.gov

Accounting Technician
(Req#2023-01313)

Promotion HHCS
Vina Akoteu @ 981-5109
Vakoteu@berkeleyca.gov

Accounting Technician
(Req#2023-01340)

Retirement Finance
Suryun "Jessie" Kim @ 981-7332

Skim@berkeleyca.gov

Fire Apparatus Operator
(Req#2023-01332)

Retirement Fire
David Sprague @ 981-5501
Dsprague@berkeleyca.gov

Library Specialist II
(Req#2023-01308)

Retirement Library
Francesca Neveu Gibson

FNeveuGibson@berkeleyca.gov

Program Manager II
(Req#2023-01264)

Vacancy
Information
Technology

Kevin Fong @ 981-6541
Kfong@berkeleyca.gov

Program Manager II
(Req#2023-01321)

Vacancy Fire
Keith May @ 981-5508
Kmay@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Citizen Center Director
(Req#2023-01211)

Vacancy HHCS
Tanya Bustamante @ 981-5178
Tbustamante@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Engineering Inspector
(Req#2022-00903E)

Vacancy Public Works
Joe Enke @ 981-6411

Jenke@berkeleyca.gov

Senior Legal Secretary
(Req#2023-01150)

Vacancy City Attorney
Farimah Brown @ 981-6985

Fbrown@berkeleyca.gov

To be considered for the vacancies listed below, employees must:

1) Have a career appointment in the specific classification listed AND be on the “Transfer List” OR
2) Have their name on an active “Eligible List” OR
3) Have their name on a “Reinstatement List”

Please call or email the department contact within one week of the job posting if you meet one of the above
criteria

To have your name placed on the transfer list:  
CLICK
HERE

Please note: The job information provided here is for the benefit of the City of Berkeley employees ONLY

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/transferjobs


VACANCIES JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 6

Classification Reason Department Contact Duration

Epidemiologist
(Req#2023-01304)

Vacancy HHCS
Lisa Hernandez @ 981-5308

Lihernandez@berkeleyca.gov
Through June 2024

Senior Service Aide
(Req#2023-01286)

Vacancy HHCS
Katherine Brown @ 981-5191

Kbrown@berkeleyca.gov
NTE 6 months

Classification Department Duration Contact Opening Date Closing Date

Health Officer (Certified)
(Req#2023-01305)

HHCS
NTE 18
months

Lisa Warhuus @ 981-5404
Lwarhuus@berkeleyca.gov

June 12, 2023 July 3, 2023

Temporary vacancies with an eligible list

Temporary vacancies without an eligible list

To be considered for the vacancies listed below, employees must:

1) Have a career appointment in the specific classification listed AND be on the “Transfer List” OR
2) Have their name on an active “Eligible List” OR
3) Have their name on a “Reinstatement List”

Please call or email  the department contact within one week of the job posting if you meet one of the above criteria

If you would like to be considered for one of these vacancies please apply online: 

To have your name placed on the transfer list:  

Please note: The job information provided here is for the benefit of the City of Berkeley employees ONLY

If you have a career appointment in the specific classification listed apply to be on the "Transfer List" AND call or
email the department contact person within one week of the job posting.

CLICK HERE

CLICK HERE

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/transferjobs
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley


CLICK
HERE

PROMOTIONAL OPPORTUNITIES JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE  7

Thinking about the next step in your career?

SPOTLIGHTSPOTLIGHT
Promotional Job OpportunityPromotional Job Opportunity

View our current promotional opportunities:

Office Specialist III

Three years of full-time general office support experience
Equivalent to graduation from high school
Must have permanent career status as a City of Berkeley employee

What does an Office Specialist III do?
Staff in this position perform difficult to complex tasks by applying their specialized skills,
thorough knowledge of relevant procedures and independent judgment.

Duties include developing documents and reporting systems, providing information and
customer service to the public and to City staff, and producing complex charts and visual
aides. This position may also assign and monitor the work of a small group of support staff.

Which departments are currently seeking an Office Specialist III?
  Health, Housing & Community Services | Mental Health Division
    Responsibilities include office support and customer service that is required to provide
    Mental Health services to the community.

  Parks, Recreation & Waterfront | Waterfront Division
    Responsibilities include providing customer service to Marina slipholders, Waterfront
    tenants and visitors. Incumbent will have specialized knowledge of the Berkeley
    Municipal Code and Marina rules and regulations.

  Public Works | Zero Waste Division
    Responsibilities include providing administrative support at the transfer station
    including pre- and post-trip reports, lagan case tracking and purchasing supplies.

What are the required qualifications?

What's the salary range?
$78,353.60 - $85,550.40 Annually (as of July 2023)

How do I apply?
Click here to submit your application, resume and answers to the supplemental questions.

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/promotionaljobs
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/jobs/3746456/office-specialist-iii
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/berkeley/jobs/3746456/office-specialist-iii


Type Name Classification Department

Appointments

Lorie Curtis Senior Management Analyst HHCS

Diana Elliott Office Specialist II Public Works

Ian Flaherty Housing Inspector I Planning

Promotions

Tephiny Jones Behavioral Health Clinician I HHCS

Amanda Montez Senior Management Analyst Public Works

Rosanne Massimino Legal Office Supervisor City Attorney

Felicia Jones Assistant Management Analyst HHCS

Jenny Seay Assistant Management Analyst
Information
Technology

Charles Campos Landscape Gardener Supervisor PRW

Retirements

Alicia Panganiban Accounting Office Specialist III Fire

Maritza Martinez Office Specialist III
City Manager's

Office

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 8

APPOINTMENTS,
PROMOTIONS, & RETIREMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023



City of Berkeley employees who are California Public Employees’ Retirement System
(CalPERS) members with Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) status have
already gotten notification from CalPERS about contribution rate increases for FY 2023-
24, which will take effect on July 1, 2023, and will appear on the affected employees’
paycheck on July 14, 2023. The applicable rates for the City of Berkeley will be as follows:

Please be mindful that these rates are set by CalPERS and employers, including the City
of Berkeley, do not have any control over them. If you would like more information
regarding this increase, please visit Public Agency Members: Most PEPRA Contribution
Rates Are Increasing on July 1 - CalPERS PERSpective.

This increase will be offset for some employees by the fact that effective June 25, 2023,
the employee share of additional cost for PEPRA employees within SEIU CSU, SEIU MC,
and PEU Local 1 will be reduced by one percent (1%), in accordance with the current
memoranda of understanding with those groups. (Unrepresented Employees will see a
similar 1% reduction in the employee share of additional cost.) The employee share of
additional cost is an additional amount to the rate determined by CalPERS and is
negotiated in the terms of the memoranda of understanding between the City and
unions.

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 9

PEPRA RATE INCREASE JUNE 30, 2023

COVID-19 SICK LEAVE

After several extensions by the City, sick leave for COVID will end on June 30, 2023.
Employees who have COVID leave balances in their illness banks can use them until the
end of the fiscal year in the event they test positive. Starting in July, regular sick days can
be used to remain in paid status during COVID-related absences.

https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A
https://news.calpers.ca.gov/public-agency-member-pepra-rate-increase-july-1-2023/?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_content=Get+the+details&utm_campaign=membernews-05-2023-1A


Topic Audience Location Completion Deadline

Harassment Awareness All City Staff Online self-paced December 31, 2023

Ethics Awareness All City Staff Online self-paced December 31, 2023

Active Shooter Awareness All City Staff Online self-paced December 31, 2023

Code of Conduct Series All supervisors and managers Online self-paced December 31, 2023

Training Date Topic Audience Location

July 13, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1, Day 1 All City Staff Zoom - click here

July 20, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1, Day 2 All City Staff Zoom - click here

July 27, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1, Day 1 All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 3, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1, Day 2 All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 10, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1, Day 1 All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 17, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Word 1, Day 2 All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 24, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1, Day 1 All City Staff Zoom - click here

August 31, 2023
9:00am-12:00pm

Microsoft Excel 1, Day 2 All City Staff Zoom - click here

CITYWIDE TRAININGS JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 10

BEGINNING IN THE MONTH OF JULY, ALL INTERNALLY SCHEDULED TRAININGS IN THE CITY OF BERKELEY ARE TEMPORARILY
SUSPENDED AS WE EVALUATE THE MOST EFFECTIVE DELIVERY STRATEGY. 

 

FOR QUESTIONS PLEASE CONTACT WILHELMINA PARKER AT WPARKER@BERKELEYCA.GOV

LIST OF UPCOMING CLASSES

CLICK HERELIST OF MANDATORY CITYWIDE TRAININGS

CLICK HERE2023 NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION SCHEDULE

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0tfuurrTkvG93LS_mIh9FrT0tbccFikMlR#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0tfuurrTkvG93LS_mIh9FrT0tbccFikMlR#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZwpde6qpzkpHd3aMSbqVRqignpw0Xicn8TY#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZwpde6qpzkpHd3aMSbqVRqignpw0Xicn8TY#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYlfu-qrTwvGd1L-k5evzUclBwGS-ltOiYx#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZYlfu-qrTwvGd1L-k5evzUclBwGS-ltOiYx#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0sd-uvqjMoHdPKG6eADtr5ti5l7KCdXwi2#/registration
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZ0sd-uvqjMoHdPKG6eADtr5ti5l7KCdXwi2#/registration
https://cityofberkeley.lms.navexglobal.com/
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/NEW%20EMPLOYEE%20NEW%20SUPERVISOR%20ORIENTATION%202023.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=NAdj9u


CLICK HERE

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE
DONATION

JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 11

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE REQUEST DONATION FOR DEON CATLETT

DEON CATLETT HAS BEEN DEALING WITH A SERIOUS MEDICAL CONDITION AND HAS EXHAUSTED ALL OF
HIS AVAILABLE LEAVE. ANY DONATIONS OF LEAVE WOULD BE GREATLY APPRECIATED BY DEON.

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO DONATE LEAVE, PLEASE CHECK YOUR MOU FOR ALLOWABLE
DONATIONS AND COMPLETE THE LEAVE TRANSFER FORM.

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE REQUEST DONATION FOR JONAH LOPP

JONAH LOPP’S FAMILY HAS BEEN DEALING WITH A SERIOUS MEDICAL CONDITION AND HE HAS
EXHAUSTED ALL OF HIS AVAILABLE LEAVE. ANY DONATIONS OF LEAVE WOULD BE GREATLY
APPRECIATED BY JONAH.

CATASTROPHIC LEAVE REQUEST DONATION FOR NICOLE TRAYLOR

NICOLE TRAYLOR HAS BEEN DEALING WITH A SERIOUS MEDICAL CONDITION AND HAS EXHAUSTED ALL
OF HER AVAILABLE LEAVE. ANY DONATIONS OF LEAVE WOULD BE GREATLY APPRECIATED BY NICOLE.

http://webserver4/bmatters/getattachment.asp?recid=563


CREATING AN EMERGENCY FUND
REDUCING YOUR HIGH-INTEREST DEBT
SAVING FOR LARGER PURCHASES

EMPOWER 457 - CITY OF BERKELEY DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
 

HOW’S YOUR FINANCIAL WELLNESS STACKING UP?
FINANCIAL WELLNESS IS IMPORTANT AND MEANS DIFFERENT THINGS TO DIFFERENT
PEOPLE. MANY INFLUENCES IN YOUR LIFE CAN AFFECT YOUR FINANCES — ESPECIALLY
YOUR ABILITY TO SAVE FOR YOUR FUTURE. TO HELP KEEP YOUR LONG-TERM STRATEGY
ON TRACK, CONSIDER HOW YOU CAN IMPROVE YOUR APPROACH TO THE FOLLOWING
IMPORTANT AREAS:
 

EMPOWER 457 &
CALPERS 457

JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 12

SCHEDULE AN APPOINTMENT TODAY TO
DISCUSS YOUR RETIREMENT SAVINGS

ACCOUNT OR YOU CAN EMAIL
JOSE.ANAYA@EMPOWER.COM

CLICK
HERE

CONTRIBUTIONS MADE THROUGH AUTOMATIC PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS
PRE-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS AND TAX-DEFERRED GROWTH

WITH THE CALPERS 457 PLAN YOU BENEFIT FROM:

LEARN MORE BY SCHEDULING A ONE-ON-ONE MEETING

SCHEDULE AN APPOINTMENT ONLINE 
OR YOU CAN EMAIL NANCY.GARRITY@VOYA.COM

OR CALL 888-713-8244 EXT.2

CLICK
HERE

https://joseanaya.empowermytime.com/#/
https://hso8vkeybn.timetap.com/


WORKING
ADVANTAGE SAVINGS

JUNE 30, 2023

BERKELEY MATTERS PAGE 13

Access to Working Advantage is being offered to City of Berkeley employees as a convenience and participation is
purely voluntary. Any products, services, or discounts that may be made available to you through Working

Advantage are provided by Working Advantage and its partners, and not by the City of Berkeley. The City of
Berkeley does not endorse or guarantee the products, services, or any other information contained in or made

available by or through Working Advantage. The City of Berkeley does not exercise any editorial control over the
information you may find at these locations. Please be aware that by clicking the link or otherwise engaging with
Working Advantage, you may be agreeing or otherwise subjecting yourself to Working Advantage’s Terms of Use,

Terms of Sale, and/or Privacy Policy. 

Your work-life balance and general well-being are as important to us as the work you
contribute. That's why we’re excited to offer your savings marketplace, your one-stop shop
for exclusive and convenient savings on the products, services, and experiences you know
and love. NOTE: Use your personal email address when you sign up! This will allow you to

access at your leisure. (household members can use the site as well)

Savings Website

CLICK HERE

Terms of Use

CLICK HERE

Terms of Sale

CLICK HERE

Privacy Policy

CLICK HERE

Tutorial Video

CLICK HERE

https://cobsavings.savings.workingadvantage.com/
https://cobsavings.savings.workingadvantage.com/
https://www.workingadvantage.com/terms.php
https://www.workingadvantage.com/terms_sale.php
https://www.workingadvantage.com/privacy.php
https://cityofberkeley.sharepoint.com/:v:/r/sites/hr/Documents/All%20Employees/Working%20Advantage%20Savings%20Program/Working%20Advantage%20-%20Tutorial.mp4?csf=1&web=1&e=ajgRzd

	ADPDBD1.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADP2F51.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADPB9C1.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	FISCAL IMPACT
	RECOMMENDATION


	ADPA6B3.tmp
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION
	RECOMMENDATION





